Securities And Exchange Commission v. Torchia et al

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. 1:15-¢v-3904-WSD

JAMES A. TORCHIA, CREDIT
NATION CAPITAL, LLC, CREDIT
NATION ACCEPTANCE, LLC,
CREDIT NATION AUTO SALES,
LLC, AMERICAN MOTOR
CREDIT, LLC, and SPAGHETTI
JUNCTION, LLC,

Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER

This matter 1s before the Court on Plaintiff United States Securities and
Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) Second Motion for Preliminary Injunction [20]
(“Preliminary Injunction Motion”) and Emergency Motion for Temporary
Restraining Order, Asset Freeze, Receiver, and Other Equitable Relief [2] (“TRO

Motion™). Also before the Court 1s Defendants James A. Torchia, Credit Nation

Capital, LLC (“CN Capital”), Credit Nation Acceptance, LLC (“CN Acceptance”),

Credit Nation Auto Sales, LLC (“CN Auto”), American Motor Credit, LLC
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(“AMC"), and Spaghetti Junction, LLC’s $paghetti Junction”) (collectively,
“Defendants”) Motion to Dismiss [21].
l. BACKGROUND AND FINDINGS OF FACT

A. Introduction

This action involves alleged frau@uit schemes operated by Mr. Torchia
and the Defendant entities he contrdlfie alleged fraudhvolves two separate
investment schemes. In the first, CN @alpraises money tmvest in sub-prime
auto loans and life insurance settlemerff20.1] at 4). CN Capital raises the
funds by selling unregistered promissory natemvestors, who are told that they
will receive a 9% “fixed” return and that their promissory notes are “100% asset
backed.” (Compl. § 2). CN Capital tefjlsomissory note investors that it expects
to generate returns from its investmentsxaess of the 9% interest payable on the
notes. ([20.1] at 5). The second invaveN Acceptance, whicsells unregistered
fractional interests in life settlement contracts (“LS Interests”) to investors.
(Compl. T 4).

The SEC contends that Defendam&/n forensic accounting analysis
reveals that their financial situation iseliCN Capital is insolvent and has been
for years, and that Defendants are attimgpto obscure CN Capital’s financial

condition. The SEC arguésat Defendants did nadisclose CN Capital’s



insolvency to investors, in vidian of federal securities laws. (S€empl.
19 10-12). The Complaint alleges thaf&wlants violated Sections 5(a), 5(c),
17(a)(1), 17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3) of thecBrties Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 77a, et
seq.(“Securities Act”), Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
15 U.S.C. § 78a, et se(jExchange Act”), and subsections (a), (b), and (c) of Rule
10b-5 under the Exchange Act, 17 ®F§ 240.10b-5 (“Rule 10b-5")._(ld.
19 10-12). The SEC asks the Courtdiout down this fraudulent scheme and
appoint a receiver to marshal and liguedthe assets to prevent investors from
losing any more money thdhey already have asasult of the Defendants|[’]
fraud.” ([20.1] at 18-19).

Defendants argue that the SEC’s allegations are based on a
misunderstanding of Defendahbusiness model and opgoas. ([61] at 6).
They argue that the SEC’s allegatioatt&N Capital is insolvent relies on a
“non-GAAP,[] preliminary, cash flow analysis[.]{[26] at 2). Defendants claim
that the fair market value of life iements owned by Credit Nation exceeds $40
million, (Defs.’ Initial Disclosures [19] at), and that taking the fair market value
of these assets into account shows thatGaNital is solvent. Defendants seek

dismissal of this action and opposei@nnction, including because the life

! Generally Accepted Ammunting Principles.



insurance settlements it sells to investoesraot securities, the SEC has not made a
prima faciecase that Defendants violated stration requirements or the antifraud
provisions of the federal securities laws, and the SEC failed to provide evidence of
scienter or intent to defraud. (See, g26] at 4-13).

B. Defendants’ Business

1. Overview

Defendant James Torchsthe CEO of CN CapitaCN Acceptance, and
AMC (collectively, “Credit Nation™). ([21.1] at 2). Although the Credit Nation
entities are separate, they function as a unit.afld). Mr. Torchia is also the
CEO of CN Auto, a used cdealership that is n@hger in operation._(Ijl.
Mr. Torchia owns Spaghetti Junctidhrough which he loaned Credit Nation
millions of dollars in start-up capital between 2008 and 2011.a(l8). The
ownership structure of the various entities under Mr. Torchia’s control is depicted

in the following chart provided by the SEC:



OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

Spaghetti 100% James Torchia
Junction (CEQ)*
5%

F

72%
James and Jason

(son) Torchia (as
Joint Tenants)
70%

Bobby Guess (VP

59 Sales/Marketing)

Richard
CN Auto Sutherland

(former VP)

Catrina Tipton
0,
5% (Office Manager)

Lee Berman (VP

10% Policy Services)
(1]

Marc Celello
(vP/General
Counsel)

* All job titles are at
5% CN Capital unless

Cynthia Weston otherwise stated

(CFO at CN Auto)

([20.1] at 23).

Credit Nation raises money to investinsub-prime auto loans and (ii) life
insurance settlements. ([20.1] at21[1] at 3). Credit Nation raises the
investment capital by selling three- and fig@ar promissory notes to investors.
([21.1] at 3). Credit Nation tells promiggmote investors that they will receive a
9% fixed return and that their promissargtes are “100% asset backed.” ([20.1]
at 4-5). Credit Nation tells promissory note investors that Credit Nation expects to

generate returns from its investmentgxcess of the 9% interest payable on the
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notes. (Idat5). Credit Nation’s advertisements for its promissory notes included

the following newspaper advertisements:

Attention Investors

[
9 A Fixed Return

APR
Interest paid quarterly
5 year term (Can be surrendered after 2*° year)

100% Asset Backed
Unaffected by Stock Market volatility

Cash or IRA Investments

Call 800-542-9513 for details

Disclosure: The notes offered by Credit Nation Lending Services, LLC (the “Company”] have
not been registered or qualified for sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any State. They are offered pursuant to Exemptions
from such registration or qualification under Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under
Section 4 {2) of the Securities Act. Nor has the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission or any State Securities Commission passed upon or endorsed the merits of an
investment in the notes. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. Please see

the Company’s offering r dumn for info ion about the Company and risk disclosure.

([2.10] at CN-SE-000550, -000553).

2

language:

SENIORS/SAVERS/INVESTORS

%

PER ANNUM

Interest paid quarterly
Limited time offer

100% Asset Backed

5 year term
(2-year exit)

No stock market volatility
No zero-interest bank rate
Make up for lost time
Cash or IRA Investments

Call (800) 542-9513
for details
Credit Nation Lending Services, LLC

Disclosure: The notes offerad by Credit Nation Lending Services, LLC (the "Company”)
have not been registered or qualified for sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amend-
ed (the “Securities Act"), or the securities laws of any State. They are offered pursuant
to Exemptions from such registration or qualification under Rule 506 of Regulation D
promulgated under Section 4 (2) of the Securities Act. Nor has the United States Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission or any State Securities Commission passed upon or
endarsed the merits of an investment in the notes. Any representation to the contrary
is a criminal offense. Please see the Company’s offering memorandum for information
about the Company and risk disclosure.

Credit Nation also ran radio advertisements containing the following

Hello, I'm Bob Guess with Credit Nation. You know, most
Americans are tired of bank returrisey’re afraid of the run-up in
Wall Street, and fed up with misleadiclaims of returns on annuities
and insurance companies. If yaulooking for sound investments



Defendants’ sub-prime auto loan difd insurance settlement operations are

represented in the following chart provided by the SEC:

CREDIT NATION OPERATIONS

Individuals or
entities sell
insurance policies

Settlements

Settlements for LS Interests

sale of LS interest

$
Spaghetti

Premiums Junction

» , Subprime
* * Policies may name Torchia as

Beneficiary, who may redirect Borrowers
proceeds to CN Capital.

CN Auto

«  ** Commingled funds are in CN

Capital accounts.

and security of principal where your money works as hard as you do,
give Credit Nation a call. Becauséthe new JOBS Act passed by
Congress there is now a level playing field for investors. With Credit
Nation you can earn a nine percegturn on your money backed by
hard assets dollar for dollar. ybu prefer growth over income we
have an asset-backed productt#hsic] averagd double digits
historically. Don’t put all your eggs one basket. Call Credit Nation
for a free consultation today. It'sver been harder to stay ahead of
inflation than it is today, so diversify your portfolio. That's the
answer. Call us at 1-800-542-9513at’s 1-800-542-9513. Don't
gamble with your financial futureCall us today.1-800-542-9513.

([2.9] at 2).



([20.1] at 24). These operations asglained in further detail below.

2. Defendants’ Investments Bub-Prime Auto Loans

Credit Nation provides automobile I@&(the “Sub-Prime Auto Loans”) at
high interest rates to individualath credit problems. (ldat 5). The Sub-Prime
Auto Loans are secured by the automobiles purchased witbdah proceeds.

(Id.). Credit Nation’s offering material$id advertising circulars describe the
steps that it takes to ensure that its Buipae Auto Loans are profitable, such as
requiring high down payments and attachenGPS tracker to each vehicle. (See,
e.qg, [2.13] at CN-SEC-000599-560). Crebliation tells investors that, in its
discretion, it will keep the Sub-Prime Auto Loans and profit from the interest or
that it will resell the loans a profit. ([20.1] at 5).

AMC, a subsidiary of CNCapital, makes the invesénts in Sub-Prime Auto
Loans. (Id). AMC originates loans directlyom automobile dealerships and also
purchases loans. ()d.Many of the Sub-Prime Auto Loans that AMC purchased
were from the now-defunct CN Auto, a cialership controlled by Mr. Torchia.
(Id. at 5-6).

The SEC contends that Credit Netis investments in Sub-Prime Auto
Loans “have never been profitable,” (at.6), and that mever disclosed its

millions of dollars in losses to promissory note investors). (id.



3. Defendants’ Investments in Life Insurance Settlements

Credit Nation also invests in life insunce settlements at a discount to their
maturity value—that is, the death behef the underlying policy. Credit Nation
buys life insurance policies, either fran insured or from a settlement company
that acts as a broker, hoping that thenbmation of the purchase price and the
premiums paid over time will be less thidne death benefits that Credit Nation
ultimately receives upon the death of the insured. atl8-7).

Credit Nation told buyers of its promissory notes that it planned to focus on
buying policies with life expectancies iretthree-to-four year range, ([2.13] at
CN-SEC-000561), and that it expects to reeavl5% return on its portfolio of life
insurance settlements, (J2] at CN-SEC-042943).

After it purchases a life insurance pgli€N Capital either holds the policy
or sells it, in whole or in part, at a markujp.sells LS Interestthrough its affiliate,
CN Acceptance. CN Acceptance tells Inferest investors that it will pay
premiums for the life expectay of the insured, plus ovyears if the insured lives
that long. (Compl. 1 4). In return, UBterest investors receive a portion of the
death benefit when the insured dies. )(Id.

The SEC contends that Credit Matis investments in life insurance

settlements have not been profitalaled that Credit Nation has suffered



multi-million dollar operating losses. (I8 72, 77). The SEC alleges that
Defendants are insolvent and have liabilitieat greatly exceed their assets, and
that this financial situation has neueeen disclosed to investors. (1d77). The
SEC also alleges that Mr. Torchia masappropriated and misused investor
money through “loans” and transfers betwéem and the Defendant entities. (ld.
19 88-112).

Defendants argue that the fair metrikalue of life settlements owned by
Credit Nation exceeds $40 million, (Defs.’ Inltlisclosures [19] at 4), and that
their life settlement business is profitablEneir theory is thatvhen an insurance
policy is purchased, its value is its fa@ue minus the premiums it expects to pay
until the insured dies. Put another waya iholicy with a face value of $1 million
is purchased for $600,000, its value is $1 million minus estimated premiums
required to be paid to keep the policy inc®. They reject tit the value is what
they paid or what a willing purchaser wd pay for the policy in an arm’s length
purchase.

C.  Procedural History

On November 10, 2015, the SHiled its TRO Motion. On
November 13, 2015, the Court held a hegn the motion. (Minute Entry [13]).

Counsel for both the SE&hd Defendants particigat in the hearing.
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(Nov. 13, 2016, Hr'g Tr. [16]). At thkearing, the Court determined that it
required more information from the pi@s—and more time—to decide whether
injunctive relief and a receivevere required. The Cdurequested the parties to
negotiate a consent order that would presdine status quo to allow the Court the
opportunity to analyze the parties’ positions in more depth. i(5e€57:6-10;
57:22-58:1; 59:2-20; 64:12-65:5). The pastagreed to the Court’s request. (Id.
at 65:10-66:4).

On November 18, 2015, the partieosiitted their proposed consent order
[15] (“Consent Order”). The Conse@tder provided for, among other things:
(i) a preliminary injunction briefing $edule; (ii) a preliminary injunction
evidentiary hearing; (iii) expedited dmeery; (iv) a freeze, pending the Court’s
determination of the SEC’s preliminarnjunction motion, on advertising, offering,
or selling additional promissory notes amilDefendants’ transfers of assets or
funds. On November 20, 2015, thelt entered the Consent Order [$7].

On December 1, 2015, the SEC filedRt®liminary Injunction Motion. The

same day, Defendants filed their Mwtito Dismiss. Defendants move, under

3 On January 13, 2016, the partiebmitted to the Court a second Proposed

Consent Order [53], which extended therts of their initial Consent Order until

the Court’s ruling on the SEC’s Hirainary Injunction Motion. On

January 14, 2016, the Court entered th#ige second Proposed Consent Order as
an order of the Court [55].

11



Federal Rule of Civil Prockire 12(b)(1), to dismiss the SEC’s claims related to
the sale of LS Interests, arguing that ti$Interests are not securities. ([21.1] at
2, 8). Defendants movander Federal Rule of dlWProcedure 12(b)(6), to
dismiss the SEC’s other claims. (&t.2).

On January 8 and 9, 2016, theutt held its hearing on the SEC’s
Preliminary Injunction Motion. (Minut&ntries [51], [52]). The testimony
provided at the hearing is discusseddtail below. On February 1, 2016, the
parties filed their respective postdring briefs. ([60], [61]).

D.  Preliminary Injunction Hearing

On January 8 and 9, 2016, theutt held its hearing on the SEC’s
Preliminary Injunction Motion. The followingpdividuals testified at the hearing:
Susan Hartman, an accountant hiredClogdit Nation to conduct a forensic
accounting of its finances; M. Bryandaman, the SEC'’s life settlement valuation
expert; Defendant Jamesrthia; Amberly Green, MiTorchia’s manager of his
personal financial matteesd a policy underwriter &redit Nation; and Jessica

Hardie, Credit Nation’s managef operations. (Tr. of Plen. Inj. Hr'g [56], [57]

(“Tr.”)).

12



1. Susan Hartman'’s Testimony and Financial Snapshots

Ms. Hartman was hired by Credit Natiom 2015 in response to the SEC'’s
investigation into Credit Natigs financial dealings. _(S€f. at 8:18-9:2). As part
of her responsibilities, she created financial snapshots (the “Financial Snapshots”)
of Credit Nation’s finances for 2014 and the first six months of 2015.af(ld.
8:19-23; Pl.’s Ex. 1; Pl.’s Ex. 2).

Ms. Hartman testified that the inililuals responsible for accounting at
Credit Nation “were not trained accountsii and that this was unusual for a
company the size of Credit Nation. (Skeat 13:19-22, 14:5-20). Partly for this
reason, the Financial Snapshots shetecteare not in acedance with GAAP.
(Seeid. at 13:7-12; 64:5-21).

Ms. Hartman created the Financtadapshots using Credit Nation’s bank
statements and its internal accounting reco(@.'s Ex. 1 at 1; Pl.’s Ex. 2 at 3-4).
The Financial Snapshots include, #X14 and 2015: CN Capital Sources and
Uses, AMC Sources and Uses, Consoédabources and Uses (CN Capital and
AMC), CN Auto Sales Sources and Uses, CN Capital Profit and*LASK

Profit and Loss, Consolidated ProfitcaLoss (CN Capital and AMC), CN Capital

4 Ms. Hartman testified that the CN #uSales Sources and Uses analysis was

not included in the CN Capital and AMTbnsolidated Sources and Uses because
CN Auto Sales is not a fully owned subsrgiaf CN Capital. (Tr. at 63:4-8).

13



Assets and Liabilities, AMC Assets and Liabilities, Consolidated Assets and
Liabilities (CN Capital and AMC), and Coolgdated Related Party Assets and
Liabilities (CN Capital and AMC)(Pl.’s Ex. 1; Pl.’s Ex. 2).

Ms. Hartman testified that, as of December 31, 2014, the face value of all
the life insurance settlemeanthat Credit Nation owned, or in which it had an
interest—$12,541,372—was less than @rlidtion’s total liability on investor

notes payable—$29,387,719.r(&t 79:25-80:10; see al§¥.’s Ex. 2 at 31).

Thus, if all of those life insurae settlement policies matured as of

December 31, 2014—well beomany of them werexpected to mature—Credit
Nation still would not have sufficient funds satisfy its obligations to promissory
note holders. (Seer. at 80:11-17; Pl.’s Ex. 2 at 31).

Ms. Hartman testified that, based om fegensic analysis, the consolidated
liabilities of CN Capital and AMC for 2014 we$32,478,510 and its assets were
$8,897,858. (Tr. at 79:13-21). Thengpanies had, baden her cash flow
analysis, a net loss of $6,164,051 in 20{Rl.’s Ex. 2 at 28). Ms. Hartman
testified that, for the period January2015, through Jung0, 2015, CN Capital
and AMC, on a cash flow basihad a consolidated nes#oof $4,230,251. (Tr. at
94:10-25; see alsBl.’s Ex. 1 at 11). Assumirigsses would accumulate at the

same rate as they did in the first swnths of 2015, CN Capital and AMC would

14



have had, on an annualizedsis, a net loss in 2015 of over $8 million—about $2
million more than its losses in 2014. A8June 30, 2015, CN Capital and AMC

had total liabilities of $41,902,589 and assets of only $14,996,245. (Tr. at 98:1-22;
Pl.’s Ex. 1 at 15). The Financial Snapsghshow that, as of June 30, 2015, CN
Capital and AMC had a negative total cfiskw, and net income. (Pl.’s Ex. 1 at

1-11).

Ms. Hartman testified that orsggnificant difference between the 2015
analysis and the 2014 analysis is tiet maturity value of life settlements
increased after December 31, 2014. (Beat 96:4-13). This increase was due to
Credit Nation’s purchase of additial life insurance policies._(lét 96:14-15).

Ms. Hartman testified that, based the analysis she conducted, Credit
Nation was operating at a loss in 2014 and 2015atiti25:21-25), that it was not
profitable, (id.at 126:6), and that, based on her analysis of Credit Nation’s profits
and losses from 2014 to 2015, itsses were accelerating, (a&t.126:8-15).

Ms. Hartman noted that, while heinancial Snapshots were not GAAP
compliant, a GAAP compliariialance sheet would record “unearned revenue” for
policies that Credit Nation sold tovestors in the past. (ldt 67:4-23, 75:10-25,
95:14-25). On a GAAP conipnt balance sheet, unearned revenue is a liability.

(Id. at 95:19-21).

15



Ms. Hartman’s Financial Snapshalso contain information regarding
transfers between Mr. Torchia and the Deli@nt entities, or other entities he or his
relatives control. For instance, Mr. Thra directed the transfer of hundreds of
thousands of dollars to CN AutBpaghetti Junction, National Viatical,
RiverGreen, Willie West, Jasonfutomotive, and Sixes Tavern(Pl.’s Ex. 1 at
5-6; Pl.’'s Ex. 2 at 17-19). Ms. Hartmarstiied that these kinds of transfers are
“not a best practice” and that generallgrsfers of this sort are done “out of
convenience” and because of “cash fisaues.” (Tr. at 31:17-33:2).

Further examples of transfers beem Mr. Torchiaad Torchia-related
entities include CN Capital and AMC214 transfers of approximately $1.1
million to CN Auto, Mr. Torchia’s now-defunctealership. (Pl.’s Ex. 2 at 21). At
the time of this transfeCN Auto owed Credit Nation more than $5 million, (@dl.
39 (non-collectable loan to CAuto of $6.4 million at thend of 2014)), and, as of
June 30, 2015, CN Auto owed CN @ap$6,405,593 in loans categorized as
“non-collectible.” (Pl.’s Ex. 1 at 17). M#lartman testified that, for part of 2014,
CN Auto paid the payroll of both CN Aueind AMC. (Tr. 40:14-16). Money also

flowed back and forth between Credittdda and RiverGreen, and Mr. Torchia’s

° National Viatical, RiverGreen, &8s Tavern, and Willie West are all

Torchia-related entities._(Sée. at 15:11-13; 23:1-7; 55:20-23; 221:12-15;
224:19-22).

16



untrained employees “kept track of whoeswvho for what on [a] spreadsheet.”
(Seeid. at 54:9-15). Ms. Hartman also testd that Credit Nation purchased a life
settlement policy from Mr. Torchia and theold the policy to a third party. (ldt
61:20-25).

2. M. Bryan Freeman'’s Testimony

Mr. Freeman testified as the SEC’s life settlefhealtuation expert. He
performed an analysis of the ten polidieat make up the majority of the death
benefits owned by Credit Nation ($67.3lan out of a total $75.1 million) to

determine the fair market value tbie policies. (Pl.’s Ex. 20; see alfn at

159-65). Mr. Freeman testified and provided an analysis showing that the total fair
market value of these policies is betweéd.5 million and $2.2 million. (Tr. at
164:12-22; Pl.’s Ex. 20). He testified thhts analysis does not include overhead
costs to manage the policieflr. at 192:6-11). Mr-reeman also suggested that
Credit Nation may not have the ability to pay the premiums on the life insurance

policies it owned. (Seigl. at 188:11-18).

® Mr. Freeman explained that life settlements technically differ from “viatical

settlements,” but that, under Georgia lamd in common parlance, the two terms
are used interchangeably. (Seeat 135:13-136:1).

! On January 7, 2016—tlay before the prelimary injunction hearing—
Defendants filed their motion wisqualify Mr. Freeman amn expert. ([50]). At
the hearing, the Court deed the motion, allowin@efendants to address, on
cross-examination, the matters sethart their motion. (Tr. at 4:8-16).

17



3. James Torchia’s Testimony

When asked whether he had reviewsl Hartman’s Financial Snapshots,
Mr. Torchia stated that he faot an accountant.”_(lcat 270:13-14). He also
deferred to his “CPAs” wén asked whether AMC, wdh operates the Sub-Prime
Auto Loan portion of Credit Natios’business, was profitable. (Sdeat
270:10-17%

Mr. Torchia believes that he and hisi/qmany are “the best in the world” at
valuing insurance policies. (ldt 211:20-22). When asked how he determined the
purchase price for life insurance policié4;,. Torchia struggled to provide a
coherent explanation of his processd &is answers were often evasive and not
responsive. (Sed. at 210:13-211:19; 233:22-239:23)le stated he buys certain
policies “[b]ecause we fe#hat the life expectancies aertain areas are off,” and
that he is “looking for homeruns and . . . for potential.” &id214:3-20). He
ultimately explained that his methodologwolves applying a factor of 10% to the

policy to determine the cost of insurance. (Beat 239:2-23). He testified that

8 Mr. Torchia was called by Defendaiats a witness in Defendant’s case-in-

chief. The evidence presented by theCStas sufficient to show that Defendants
did not have a viable motion to dismisgla end of the SEC’s case-in-chief and
Defendants thus were allodi¢o present evidence oreihbehalf for the Court’s
consideration.

18



Credit Nation has its “own doctors . . . avhre better than the life expectancy
doctors.” (Id.at 214:8-14).

Mr. Torchia was questioned regardihgee specific life insurance policies
in which he sold or pledged LS Intsts to investors,ral he was questioned
regarding Mr. Freeman’s valuation analysisthose three policies. For the first
policy, Mr. Torchia sold approximate0% of the death benefit from a policy
issued to an insured namidhan. The revenue generated by the sale of the LS
Interests in the Kahan oy was $977,475.37._(Icht 246:4-8; Pl.’s Ex. 31).

Mr. Freeman calculated that Credit Natwwauld be required to pay premiums of
$1,860,837 on the Kahan policy to keem force until the life expectancy
estimated by Credit Nation. (Tr. at 250:27Z}. Mr. Torchia was asked to multiply
the percentage of the death benefit soldhgytotal premiums required to be paid,
and the result was approxately $1,302,000._(lcht 251:3-18). Mr. Torchia was
then asked to subtract $977,475.37etevenue generated by the sale of
approximately 70% of Kahan's death bbetefrom the premiums required to be
paid on those sold death benefits, #m@lresult was a loss for Credit Nation of
approximately $325,000, asaing Kahan lived to the life expectancy Credit
Nation estimated. _(Sad. at 251:3-23). Put anothevay, assuming Kahan lived

to life expectancy, Credit Nation wallose, through paying the required

19



premiums, $325,000 on its salitapproximately 70% of Kahan’s death benefit.
Mr. Torchia attempted to dispute tHigure by claiming that Credit Nation
“inherited along with that [Kahan] portfolio. . 14 million dollars’ worth of death
benefit on top of it for free on pele that were older.” _(Idat 251:24-252:2).

Mr. Torchia, however, could not explairetsource of these purported profits, and
he could not identify any policy he alaéd was a part of the $14 million four-
policy deal that included the Kahan portfolio. @#i.252:3-254:2).

Next, Mr. Torchia sold 41% of theedth benefit on a policy issued to an
insured named Sneider. Ttwtal revenue generated by thade of LS Interests in
the Sneider policy was $2,050,000. @255:2-6; Pl.'s Ex43). Mr. Freeman’s
calculations showed that the anticipaprdmiums on the Sneider policy totaled
$6,699,648. (Tr. at 255:19-24Mr. Torchia performethe same calculations as
above, and the result showed that, if Sneider lived to theXpectancy Credit
Nation calculated, Credit Natm would lose approximately $700,000 on the sale of
those LS Interests._(lat 258:9-21). Mr. Torchia agn struggled to explain this
loss estimate, claiming, confusingly, thate inherited 24 million dollars in death
benefit for free. Just pay the premiums.” @tl258:24-259:3). Mr. Torchia

conceded that, in numerous cases, life expectancies for policies Credit Nation
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owned exceeded Credit Nation’s estimdtidexpectancies for those policies.
(Seeid. at 265:24-267:7).

Mr. Torchia testified that Mr. Freems valuation of the value of Credit
Nation’s life settlements is incorrect, notitigat Mr. Freeman’s expertise is in a
different life settlement market than thee in which Credit Nation operates. (ld.
at 219:3-13). Mr. Torchia claimed that teuld sell Credit Nation’s life settlement
policies “in under three months for at least [$]35 million.” @d219:10-13). He
did not provide any criteria, process,methodology by which he reached this
valuation.

On cross examination, Mr. Torchissti#ied that there is an outstanding
$5 million judgment against an entity calldlational Viatical, for which judgment
Mr. Torchia is jointly liable. (Idat 272:12-14). When asked how he would satisfy
the judgment, Mr. Torchia stated hewd not take money from Credit Nation to
pay the judgment, and that he “intesidjo fight it to the death.” _(ldat
272:21-273:10). Mr. Torchia also offeredtienony to the effect that he maintains
discretion to decide how Credit Natioperates financially, including by loaning
money to related entities ardgaging in a variety of transactions Mr. Torchia

decides are appropriate. (Sdeat 216:17-217:2; 221:16-25; 222:9-23; 272:1-16).
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When questioned about Credit Nation’presentations to investors that life
settlements and Sub-Prime Auto Loans wiaggnerate sufficient revenue to pay
9% interest on the promissory notes, Morchia stated “we didn’t represent
that. . . . We represented that we going to enter into the auto loans and
policies . . . [bJut we also hawaher revenue streams.” (lak 275:25-276:6). He
stated that “[w]e will get thre. We have generatfg] lot in buying and selling
loans. We just, you know, we haven’'t—ivaven’'t had as much money to do the
auto loans as we would like to. But aee just about there right now.” (lak
276:7-10).

Mr. Torchia testified that CredNation reported losses in 2011, 2012, and
2013. (Id.at 271:2-8). He testified that Defants “told [investors] we could run
at aloss. And | don’t think’'s my duty to tell [investors] that we are running at a
loss.” (Id.at 277:23-278:3).

When questioned whether he somesmesed the company credit card to pay
for Sixes Tavern’s expenses, he stated tifat's used by the Sixes Tavern, it gets
paid back by Sixes Tavern, or it gets restioff of my deficit, but it gets paid
back.” (Id.at 221:16-23). When asked whetltggse transactions were accounted
for, he answered “[y]eah, | believe so.” (&t.221:24-25). When asked a similar

guestion regarding whether “Credit Natiaccounts for monies flowing back and
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forth from Credit nation to RiverGreerhé stated that his “bookkeepers do that,
bookkeepers and the people that handle the account.at@23:20-23). He
reiterated that he is “just not a very gamtountant. We have outside CPAs that
were brought in to set up the systems thakewe place . . . Accounting is not my
strong suit.” (1d223:25-224:6). He did not testify that trained or certified
accountants are usually employed by Credit Nation.

4.  Amberly Green’s Testimony

Ms. Green, Mr. Torchia’s managertué personal finanal matters and a
policy underwriter at Credit Nation, tes#ifl that, based on her understanding of
Mr. Torchia’s bank accounts and finances, a $5 million judgment against
Mr. Torchia would “significantly impadis ability to loan money” to Credit
Nation. (Id.at 317:8-22).

Regarding Mr. Torchia’s loans @redit Nation and other entities,

Ms. Green testified that there were loan agreements in place. (dd.
304:24-305:5). Ms. Green testified tih\t. Torchia loaned $2,964,000 to CN

Auto between 2007 and 2013 “in order for it to operate.” 1815:18-316:9).

’ Despite Credit Nation’s mass madidvertisements to the public,

Mr. Torchia claims he allows only “highet-worth individuals” to invest in life
settlements. (Tr. at 219:1B). The evidence is urgfiuted that life settlements
are part of the two investments inted to fund notes owned by investors.
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When asked to clarify the purpose of $%2964,000 loan, she testified that she did
not know the exact purpose of Mrorchia’s loans to CN Auto._ (It
316:16-20):> 1
Il DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

The SEC’s Complaint alleges that Dafiants violated Sections 5(a), 5(c),
17(a)(1), 17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3) of tBecurities Act, Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, and SEC Rul0b-5. Defendants move, under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(1), to dismiss tB&C'’s claims related to the sale of
LS Interests, arguing that the LS Inteseste not securities. ([21.1] at 2, 8).
Defendants move und€ederal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) to dismiss the
SEC’s other claims._(Idcat 2).

A. Legal Standards

1. Federal Rule of Gil Procedure 12(b)(1)

“Attacks on subject matter jurisdictiomder Fed. R. CivP. 12(b)(1) come
in two forms. ‘Facial atigks’ on the complaint requiréfhe court merely to look

and see Iif [the] plaintiff has sufficitp alleged a basis of subject matter

10 The testimony of Ms. Hardie, Credit Nation’s manager of operations, had

limited probative value. The partids not rely on her testimony in their
post-hearing briefs, and the Court does nigtoa it in this Opinion and Order.
1 The Court sets out additidrfacts and allegations below.
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jurisdiction, and the allegations in [fh@omplaint are taken as true for the

purposes of the motion.” _Mehaca v. Chrysler Credit Cor®13 F.2d 507, 511

(5th Cir.1980)"* cert. denied449 U.S. 953 (1980) (citing Mortensen v. First Fed.

Sav. & Loan Ass'n549 F.2d 884, 891 (3d Cir. 1977 “Factual attacks” are

challenges to the “existence of subject mgtiasdiction in fact . . . and matters
outside the pleadings . are considered.” Id.

The Court, having reviewed thegaments presented by both parties,
determines that Defendants’ Rule 12(b){Igtion to Dismiss is a facial attack.
The Court thus considers the allegationthmm Complaint as true for the purposes
of the motion._Mencha¢®13 F.2d at 511.

2. Federal Rule of @il Procedure 12(b)(6)

On a motion to dismiss pursuant tol&®u2(b)(6) of thd=ederal Rules of
Civil Procedure, the Court must “assuthat the factual allegations in the
complaint are true and give the plaifi] the benefit of reasonable factual

inferences.”_Wooten v. Quicken Loans, |26 F.3d 1187, 1196 (11th Cir.

2010). Although reasonable infereneee made in the plaintiff's favor,

unwarranted deductions of fact’ are notaitted as true.” Adana v. Del Monte

12 In Bonner v. City of Prichardb61 F.2d 1206 (11th Cit981) (en banc), the
Eleventh Circuit adopted as binding preeetall of the decisions of the former
Fifth Circuit handed down prior to tledose of business on September 30, 1981.
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Fresh Produce, N.A416 F.3d 1242, 1248 (11th C2005) (quoting S. Fla. Water

Mgmt. Dist. v. Montalvo 84 F.3d 402, 408 n.10 (11th Cir. 1996)). Similarly, the

Court is not required to accept conclusdiggations and legal conclusions as true.

SeeAm. Dental Ass’'n v. Cigna Corp605 F.3d 1283, 1290 (11th Cir. 2010)

(construing Ashcroft v. Igbab56 U.S. 662 (2009); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly

550 U.S. 544 (2007)).

“To survive a motion to dismiss, aroplaint must contain sufficient factual
matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a ckaimelief that is plausible on its face.”
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting Twombl§50 U.S. at 570). Mere “labels and
conclusions” are insufficient. TwomhI$50 U.S. at 555. “A&laim has facial
plausibility when the plaintiff pleads faciusontent that allows the court to draw
the reasonable inference that the defentkalble for the misconduct alleged.”
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Twomhl$50 U.S. at 556). This requires more than
the “mere possibility omisconduct.”_Am. Dentalb05 F.3d at 1290 (quoting
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679). The well-pled alléigas must “nudge][] their claims
across the line from conceba to plausible.”_Idat 1289 (quoting TwombJy650

U.S. at 570).
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B. Analysis

1. The LS Interests are Securities

As a threshold matter, the partiesatiree whether the LS Interests sold by
Credit Nation qualify as securities under @t 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act and
Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Att.

The Eleventh Circuit Court dfppeals addressed this issue in

SEC v. Mutual Benefits Corp408 F.3d 737 (11th Cir. 2005). In Mutual Benegfits

the Eleventh Circuit upheld the distraturt’s denial of defendant’s motion to
dismiss for lack of subject matter juristion, holding that life settlement contracts
are “investment contracts” under the test set forth by the United States Supreme

Court in SEC v. W.J. Howey Cd28 U.S. 293 (1946). 408 F.3d at 745. The

Howeytest provides that an investmewointract for purposes of the federal
securities laws means “a contract, tten or scheme whereby a person invests
his money in a common enterprise ankkdsto expect profits solely from the
efforts of the promoter or a thirdqya. . . .” 328 U.S. at 298-99.

Applying the_ Howeytest, the Mutual Benefitsourt found that there was no

genuine dispute that the life settlemeantracts at issue involved “(1) an

13 In response to the SEC'’s first ©& requests for admission, Defendants

admitted that the promissory notes offebgdCN Capital are sedties. ([48.1] at
3).
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investment of money, (2) in a common eptese, (3) involving the expectation of
profits.” 408 F.3d at 742-43. Turning tiee remaining element, “whether the
investor’s expectation of profits is basedlely on the efforts of the promoter or a
third party[,]”” the Eleventh Circuit ned that “investment schemes may often
involve a combination of both pre- and ppsirchase manageriattivities, both of
which should be taken into considgon in determining whether Howsytest is
satisfied.” _Id.at 743-44. The Eleventh Circailso noted that many courts “have
found investment contracts where significant efforts included the pre-purchase
exercise of expertise by promoters in st or negotiating the price of an asset
in which investors would agiire an interest.”_Idat 744 (citing cases). The
Eleventh Circuit concluded:

The investors here relied on [thefeledant] to identify terminally ill

insureds, negotiate purchase prijqasy premiums, and perform life

expectancy evaluations critical ttee success of the venture. The

flexible test we are instructed to apply by Howey covers these

activities, qualifying [thelefendant]’s viatical settlement contracts as

‘investment contracts’ under the ceeities Acts of 1933 and 1934,
Id. at 745.

Defendants’ attempts to distinguislketS8EC’s allegations here from those at

iIssue in_Mutual Benefitare unconvincing. Defendants first argue that the SEC’s

allegations do not satisfy the “comon enterprise” prong of the Howésst.

([21.1] at 8). Relying on SE@ Unique Fin. Concepts, Incl96 F.3d 1195 (11th
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Cir. 1999), Defendants argue that whetiner “common enterprise” prong is met
depends on whether the “fortunes o thvestor are interwoven with and
dependent on the efforts and success of those seeking the investment or of third
parties.” ([21.1] at 8).They argue here, the SEleges investors purchase
policies from Credit Natiomventory, and that policiesme identified and acquired
before an investor ever placesiavestment with Credit Nation._(Iét 9 (citing
Compl. 11 4, 51)). Defendts contend their “investorgortunes are tied directly
to market forces (e.g., when a policy ntat), not interwoven with the efforts and
success of Credit Nation.”_(d.

This argument is meritless. Firtat some of Defendants’ activities
occurred pre-purchase is irrelevant, because “investscbemes may often
involve a combination of both pre- and ppsirchase manageriattivities, both of
which should be taken into considgon in determining whether Howsytest is

satisfied.” _Mutual Benefits408 F.3d at 743-44. Second, in finding a common

enterprise, the EleventhCuit in Mutual Benefitsioted only that “[t]he

investment scheme here involved bothizantal commonality, in that investor
money was typically pooled to invest iviatical settlement and investors shared
both the promise of profits and the risklogs, and vertical commonality in that

any profits were tied to the efforts thfe promoters.” 408 F.3d at 743 n.4. The
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Eleventh Circuit did not set forth a tempbrequirement that the “efforts of the
promoters” must be undertaken afiiee investor makes the investméht.

Here, the Complaint alleges that,past of the LS Interest scheme:
“Investors receive a pro rata distributionrr the policy proceeds when the insured
dies”; “CN Acceptance is required to ptne policy premiums for up to two years
beyond the insured’s projected life ex@auaty”; “CN Acceptance establishes a
projected life expectancy for the insured’the insured lives more than two years
beyond the projected life expectancy, Bbteptance may “require LS Interest
investors to make the future premiyayments”; CN Acceptance will “monitor
when premium payments are due”; &M Acceptance provides LS Interest
investors with “a list of services that CN Acceptance provides.” (Compl. 1 4, 53,
55, 57). These allegations show investsinared the promise of profits and the
risk of loss, and that investors’gdits were tied to CN Acceptance’s life
expectancy projections, their ongoindoefs of monitoring, making premium
payments, and facilitating collection tbfe benefit upon maturity. The “common

enterprise” prong is satisfied.

14 The Eleventh Circuit found “frivoloughe defendant’s contention that the

“‘common enterprise” prong was not matddhe Eleventh Circuit relegated to a
footnote its analysis of ik prong. _Mutual Benefitg108 F.3d at 743 n.4.
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Defendants next argue the allegationthe Complaint do not satisfy the
final Howeyprong, which requires that the investor’'s expectation of profits be
based solely on the efforts of the promatea third party. Defendants argue that

the Complaint does not allege factabgous to those alleged by the SEC in

Mutual Benefits ([21.1] at 9-11). Defendants note specifically that, in Mutual
Benefits the defendant, among other activitigequired investors to place money
in escrow before it purchased anyeirest or engaged in any activities on
[investors’] behalf”; “never askeavestors pay additional premiums” “after
policies were purchased”; “recruited doctaysvaluate the health of an insured”;
and “monitored the health of the insureds|.]” @tl9-10). Defendants also argue
that the “SEC does not allege that Crétation selects interests specifically for LS
Interest purchasers.”_(ldt 10).

TheMutual Benefitsdecision does not require a complaint to allege these

specific facts. The Howetgst was met in Mutual Benefibgcause “investors’

expectations of profits ...relied heavily on the pre- and post-payment efforts of
the promoters in making investments intial settlement contracts profitable.”
408 F.3d at 744. In reaching this cluston, the court did not identify any
individual factor as dispositive. Instedde Court simply listed several factors that

supported its conclusion that the finabpg was met, including: “[tlhe investors
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here relied on [the defendant] to identifynténally ill insureds, negotiate purchase
prices, pay premiums, and perform lifepextancy evaluationitical to the
success of the venture.” ldt 745. The Complaint heealleges tat Defendants
bought life insurance policies from imgals, paid premiums, performed life
expectancy evaluations, and monitopedmium payments, among other “services
that CN Acceptance provides.” (S€empl. 11 4, 51-57). The Complaint’s

allegations here track those listed by the court in Mutual Benefits

The crux of Defendants’ argument isitlthe “the LS Interest purchasers’
fortunes relied more on market forces.(iiesured’s health and longevity) than
Credit Nation’s efforts and success.” ([21ai]l1). This characterization ignores
the reality of the investment Defendsiaiffered—an investment that required
investors to rely on Defendants to evaduand purchase insurance policies based
on Defendants’ analysis of and reconmuations regarding “market forces,”
specifically, insureds’ health and longevitin a real way, Defendants’ argument

discredits their effort to distinguish this case from Mutual Benefitseir

argument ignores that LS Interest puasérs necessarily relied on Defendants’
pre-purchase selection of the insurance pdicand that the Complaint alleges this
selection involved, at the very l¢akfe expectancy evaluations. (S€empl. 11 4,

51-57). As the Eleventh Circuit noted, “investment schamegsoften involve a

32



combination of both pre- and post-pursbananagerial activities, both of which
should be taken into considertiin determining whether How®sytest is

satisfied.” Mutual Benefit408 F.3d at 743-44. The Mutual Benefitsurt also

noted:
[w]hen profits depend upon market forces, public information is
available to investors by which thegn independently evaluate the
possible success of the investment. In the case before us, investors
were far more dependent on tHeods and information provided by
[defendant] than an investor ratg on the open market to produce a
profit.

408 F.3d at 744 n.5. Here, the Court fitlakst the allegations in the Complaint

show that LS Interest investors welependent on the efforts and information

provided by Credit Nation and did noty®n the open market to produce a

profit.™ The LS Interest contracts araVestment contracts” subject to the

Securities Act and the Ekange Act.

2. Violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act

The SEC alleges that Defendants viethSections 5(a) and 5(c) of the

Securities Act. “Under Section 5 of thed@irities Act, securities offered for sale

1> Defendants rely on SEC v. Life Partners, |83. F.3d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1996)
to show that other courts have found thairfisterial efforts” such as those alleged
by the SEC do not convert Life Settlements into investment contracts subject to
SEC regulation. ([21.1] at 11). Defemdisi reliance is misplaced, because the
Eleventh Circuit in Mutual Benefitsxpressly “decline[dio adopt the test
established by the Life Partnarsurt.” 408 F.3d 737.
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must be registered by filing a regidtom statement with the SEC, unless a

statutory exemption to the registration requirement applies.” SEC v. Bronson

14 F. Supp. 3d 402, 407 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 77e). “In order to
establish a prima facie case for a violation of 8 5 of the Securities Act, the SEC
must demonstrate that (1) the defendant directly or indirectly sold or offered to sell
securities; (2) through the use of intetsteiansportation or communication and the

mails; (3) when no registration statemesais in effect.”_SEC v. Big Apple

Consulting USA, InG.783 F.3d 786, 806-807 (11th Cir. 2015) (quoting

SEC v. Calvp378 F.3d 1211, 1214 (11th Cir. 2004¥Dnce participation in an

unregistered sale has been shown, teleis] have the burden of proving an

exemption to the registration requirements.” dd807 (quoting Zacharias v. SEC

569 F.3d 458, 464 (D.C. Cir. 2009)).
Defendants acknowledge thpmomissory notes are securities. ([21.1] at 12;
see alsd48.1]® at 3)!" They argue, however, thite SEC’s Section 5 claims

should be dismissed because Credit Natas permitted to offer its notes to

16 The SEC introduced this docunié@mto evidence at the preliminary

injunction hearing as Plaintiff's Exhibit 100.

17 Defendants admit that CN Capitak&d instrumentalities of interstate
commerce in connection with the offer antesat promissory notes.” ([48.1] at
4). Defendants also admit that “[n]o refgation statement was in effect with the
Commission as to the promissory nosesd by Credit Nation Capital.”_(Id.
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unaccredited investors” under Rule 506(cj C.F.R. § 230.506(c), ([21.1] at 13),
essentially contending that the promissooges are exempt from the registration
requirements.

Defendants have the burd® prove an exemption applies. Big Apple
783 F.3d at 807. “A court may dismisslaim on the basis of an affirmative
defense raised in the motion to dismwsly if the facts supporting the defense
appear on the face of the complaimdat appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff
can prove no set of facts in support of tlEmm that would entitldim to relief.”

Bronson 14 F. Supp. 3d at 407 (citing Unit&thtes v. Space Hunters, Inc.

429 F.3d 416, 426 (2d Cir. 2005)); see dlsan City Fire Ins. Co. v. Hartman,

Simons & Wood, LLP609 F. App’x 972, 976 (11th Cir. 2015) (“A complaint may

be dismissed . . . when the existencarfffirmative deferes‘clearly appears on

the face of the complaint.” (quotg Quiller v. Barclays Am./Credit, Inc/27 F.2d

1067, 1069 (11th Cir. 1984))).

Here, Defendants do not argue ttiegt allegations in the Complaint
conclusively show the promissory notes akempt from registration. They argue,
instead, that the SEC does not allege suficfacts to show that the promissory
notesare not exempt from registration._(S¢&1.1] at 12-14 (“The SEC also does

not specify when Investor A investedtvCredit Nation . . . . Without more
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specific information, the . . . Defenua are unable to answer the SEC'’s
allegations”; “the SEC fails to allegeho met with Investor A and secured his
investment . . . third-party verificatn is not the only way to satisfy the
requirement in Rule 506(c) . . "A sizeable minimum investmemntay also

indicate accredited status depending onratifermation available to a promoter.”
(emphasis added))). The SEC, however, da¢fave the burden to prove that the
promissory notes are not exempt from registration. It is Defendants’ burden to
show the promissory notes are, in fact, exempt. Big Apj@a F.3d at 807.
Defendants fail to identify any Comjmé allegations clearly showing the
promissory notes are exempt from registra Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the

SEC’s Section 5 claims is denied. Jawn City, 609 F. App’x at 976.

3. Violation of the Anti-Fraud Provisions

Defendants next move to dismiss 8C’s claims that Defendants violated
Sections 17(a)(1), 17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3)he Securities AcSection 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, and SEC Rul@b-5 (collectively, the “Anti-Fraud Provisions”).

To establish a violation of Section 10@drd Rule 10b-5, the SEC must prove by a
preponderance of the evidence that Defendants made “(1) material
misrepresentations or materially misleagpgomissions, (2) in connection with the

purchase or sale of securities,” and thaytt{3) made [them] with scienter.”
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SEC v. Merchant Capital, LL@I83 F.3d 747, 766 & n.17 (11th Cir. 2007) (citing

Aaron v. SEC446 U.S. 680, 695 (1980); SEC v. Zandfd@5 U.S. 813, 816 n.1
(2002)).

A complaint alleging claims und&ection 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 must
satisfy the heightened pleading requiratsesstablished under Rule 9(b) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Prodeire. SEC v. Strebinget14 F. Supp. 3d 1321, 1329

(N.D. Ga. 2015) (citing Kampona v. Onteco Corp587 F. App’x 575, 581 (11th

Cir. 2014)). To do so, a plaintiff “mustagé with particularitythe circumstances
constituting fraud or mistake.” HeR. Civ. P. 9(b).

Proof of a violation of Section 17)(1) through (3) requires “[e]ssentially
the same elements” in connection with the offer or sale of a security, except that
proof of scienter is not required fortiSEC to seek an injunction under Section

17(a)(2) or (3)._SE®. Monarch Funding Corp192 F.3d 295, 308 (2d Cir. 1999)

(citing SEC v. First Jersey Secs., |n01 F.3d 1450, 1467 (2d Cir. 1996));

see alsdverchant Capital483 F.3d at 766 (citing Aaron v. SE€16 U.S. 680,

697, 702 (1980)}%

18 All of these violations also requipgoof of an interst@ commerce or mails

element._Se#&5 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 15 U.S.C. § 7&)( The Complaint alleges,
(Compl. § 15), and Defendaddmit, ([48.1] at 4-5that CN Capital and CN
Acceptance used instrumentalities of retate commerce in connection with the
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The SEC alleges that Defenddhtsisled investorskout the safety and
profitability of Credit Nation. (See, e,dCompl. 11 1, 83). It also accuses
Mr. Torchia of misappropriating investunds, using new investor money to
disguise the venture’s operating lossedensively commingling funds among
entities under his control, and using efendant entities’ assets to prop one
another up. (See, e,ad. 1 89).

The misleading statements or mateoialissions alleged in the Complaint
include:

e The promissory notes were “1008sset backedjr “backed by
hard assets dollar for dollar.” (1§ 46, 48, 49).

e CN Capital “expect[ed]to generate interest income and long-term
capital gains from its investmentsautomobile loans and Life
Settlements in excess of the interest payable on the notes. (Id.
1 43).

e CN Capital “ancitipat[ed]”’ that s than one month’s collection of
automobile loan payments wadfstient to meet one year of
premiums on Life Settlements Credit Nation held. {id5).

offer and sale of promissory notes andlbfrests. The Court determines the
Complaint sufficiently alleges ¢éhinterstate commerce element.

19 The SEC alleges the ftaéring Defendants” madmisrepresentations and
omissions. The Offering Defendante &ir. Torchia, CN Capital, and CN
Acceptance. For the sake of simplicityg tGourt refers to the Offering Defendants
simply as “Defendantsdr “Credit Nation.”
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e CN Capital “expect[ed]” that itkife Settlements would generally
yield about 15% per annum._(Ifi44).

e Credit Nation’s investments ardlfusecured by assets, and Credit
Nation is profitable. (1d{ 71-73, 76, 83).

e Credit Nation failed to disclose its “multi-million dollar per year
operating losses” and “massiinsolvency.” (1df{ 3, 77-81).

¢ Neither CN Capital nor the promiggmotes it offers are disclosed
to those who purchase LS Intesetrough CN Acceptance. (Id.
1 56).

e Credit Nation failed to disclose itbligation to repay startup loans
from Torchia and related entities. (f112).

Defendants argue that the SEC’s claimsttaidentify when, wkre, and to whom
the alleged misstatements or omissionsawrade, and thus fail to meet the
heightened pleading requirementfafle 9(b). ([21.1] at 17).

The Eleventh Circuit has stated:

Rule 9(b) is satisfied if the corgnt sets forth (1) precisely what
statements were made in what doemts or oral representations or
what omissions were made, and f& time and place of each such
statement and the person responsible for making (or, in the case of
omissions, not making) same, and (3) the content of such statements
and the manner in which they mislgt plaintiff, and (4) what the
defendants obtained as @sequence of the fraud.

Dixon v. Allergan USA, Ing.— F. App’x —, —2016 WL 946553, at *2

(11th Cir. Mar. 14, 2015) (quotiritello v. Dean Witter Reynolds, In&194 F.3d

956, 972 (11th Cir. 2007)).
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Defendants’ suggestion that the SEC failed to identifgrwhwvhere, and to

whom the alleged misstatements or omissigase made is, at least, disingenuous.

In addition to the allegations listed abotlee Complaint also alleges a variety of

fact-specific allegations of fraud:

CN Capital’s “2013 offering memonaum, which was used from September
2013 through November 2014,” (Compl. { 40), “expects the pool of Life
Settlements will generally yiglabout 15% per annum,” (i§.44).

“The November 2014 Offering Memoranduwahich is still in use, contains
similar statements[.]” _(1d 41).

“Credit Nation’s newspapedvertisements, whichave appeared in
Georgia, South Carolina, Texas andif@enia, generally state, among other
things, that the investment: (i) genesde9% fixed return with interest paid
guarterly; (i) is 100% sset backed . . ..” (14 46).

Radio advertisements have been dazst in Texas, Georgia, and South
Carolina, (id.{ 47), the specific text of which advertised a 9% return on
investment and that assetse &acked dollar for dollar, (141 48-49).

A 78 year old retiree and resident ofuoCarolina (“Investor A”) invested
$50,000 in promissory notes and $5@ 00 LS Interests after seeing a
Credit Nation advertisement in hicckl newspaper in late 2013. (ld.

19 66-67).

In early September 2015, Credit Nation produced to the SEC non-GAAP
financial reports which “confirm thdahe representations made by the
company regarding the safety of thwestments and the profitability of its
investment strategy are false.” (] 74-76). The report showed the notes
are not “100% asset backed” or “backsdhard assets dollar for dollar”
because “the company’s liabilities dwarf its assets and the company has
sustained multi-million dollar per year operating losses.” {Id7).
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These allegations are merely a suliéeéhe detailed allegations in the
Complaint?® The Court finds that the SEC'’s faat allegations, with respect to its
fraud claims under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, satisfy the particularity pleading
requirements of Rule 9(b).

Defendants next argue that alleging that Defendis’ representations and
omissions were misleading, “the SE@sconstrues the financial information
[Defendants] provided in connection witte SEC’s two-year investigation.”
([21.1] at 17). They contend that tB&C inappropriately relies on a cost basis
analysis of Credit Nation’s finances tdegje that Credit Nation’s liabilities exceed
its assets, that Credit nation does not usg lcasis to value its Life Settlements,
that the SEC ignores GAAP accountingpiples, and that the SEC ignores key
disclosures in the offering memoranda. @tl17-19).

On a motion to dismiss pursuant tol®u2(b)(6), the Court must “assume
that the factual allegations in the comptaare true and give the plaintiff[] the
benefit of reasonable factual inferences.” Wop€626 F.3d at 1196. The
Complaint plausibly alleges that CreNation’s assets are substantially

outweighed by its liabilities, (see, e.Gompl. 11 3, 76-83), and the Court must

20 The SEC points out that the offering memoranda and LS Interest sales

packets were produced by Credit Nation #® 8EC and given to each investor, and
Credit Nation thus had ample “fair notice”tble SEC’s claims. 25] at 21).
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assume these allegations are fru@®efendants also urge the Court to consider
their argument that the Financial Packeferenced in the Complaint do not show
that Credit Nation is insolvent. Thtte Court conducteal TRO hearing and a
two-day preliminary injunction hearingldressing, in large part, whether the
Financial Packets show Credit Natiorninsolvent undermines Defendants’
litigation position that the Complaint andhBincial Packets, on their face, do not
show that Credit Nation is insolvenRefendants’ arguments that the Complaint
relies on “misconstrue[d]” edence are appropriate argants in opposition to the
SEC'’s Preliminary Injunction Motion, andein arguments are addressed below in

the Court’s consideration of that mamti. These arguments are not, however, a

21 In their Motion to Dismiss, Defendanpoint to disclosures in their offering

memoranda warning investors of the pb#isy of Credit Nation operating at a loss
and its liabilities exceeding its asse(R21.1] at 19). Taking as true the
Complaint’s allegations that the offeringemoranda were distributed while Credit
Nation actually operated at a loss and whgdiabilities exceeded its assets, the
offering documents’ generic cautiondanguage was affirmatively deceptive,
because the language implied that t&gicautioned against had not occurred,
when they had. Sdderchant Capital483 F.3d at 769 (“[T]o warn that the
untoward may occur when the event istaogent is prudent, to caution that it is
only possible for the unfavorable evetdshappen when they have already
occurred is deceit.”).
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basis for the Court to dismiss the SEC’s claifm®efendants’ Motion to Dismiss
Is denied.
. THE SEC’S PRELIMINAR Y INJUNCTION MOTION

The Court now addresses the SEC’diarofor injunctive relief. In its
Preliminary Injunction Motion, the SEC see& preliminary injunction, a freeze of
Defendants’ assets, and the appointmerst iifceiver. The Court first addresses

whether the SEC has met its burden tgpsupthe preliminary injunction sought.

22 Defendants also argue that.Miorchia and Credit Nation did not

commingle funds or misappropriate investooney, and that Credit Nation is not a
Ponzi scheme. It is not clear which elemsesf a violation of Section 17, Section
10(b), or Rule 10b-5 Defendants seekitalermine with these arguments. The
SEC is not required to allege that Credition meets some specific definition of a
Ponzi scheme for it adequatdtyallege securities vidi@ns. The allegations in

the Complaint regarding Mr. Torchiasisappropriation of investor money
support the SEC’s fraud claims, and, assaltethe SEC alleges sufficient facts to
sustain claims of fraud under the Securifdes and the Exchanggct. The Court
finds that the SEC’s allegatiotisat Mr. Torchia and Credit Nation
misappropriated investor money are suéfidly well-pled. A smple of the SEC’s
specific allegations of misappropriatiorcindes: Mr. Torchia gave undocumented
“loans” to Credit Nation, for which transfers to himself and his other business are
purportedly repayment; these purporteains were not disclosed to investors;
Spaghetti Junction and CN Gegb transferred hundreds tifousands of dollars to
Sixes Tavern; and Mr. Torchia traesfed $195,842 of CN Capital funds to
Willie’'s West, LLC, which used the funds purchase a s&dential home in

Canton, Georgia in which Mr. Torchia livegCompl. {1 100, 104, 110, 112).
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A. Preliminary Injunction

The Securities Act provides:
Whenever it shall appear toetlCommission that any person is
engaged or about to erggain any acts or practices that constitute or
will constitute a violation of the provisions of this subchapter, or of
any rule or regulation prescribed under authority thereof, the
Commission may, in its discretion,itbg an action in any district court
of the United States, . . . to enjoin such acts or practices, and upon a
proper showing, a permanent or temporary injunction or restraining
order shall be granted without bond . . . .
15 U.S.C. 8 77t(b). The Exahge Act contains a sifar provision authorizing
injunctive relief. _Sed5 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1).
In this Circuit, the “SEC is entitteto a preliminary injunction when it
establishes . . . (1) a prima facie casprevious violations of federal securities
laws, and (2) a reasonable likelihood ttiegt wrong will be repeatl.” Unique Fin.

Concepts196 F.3d at 1199 n.2; see aSalvg 378 F.3d at 1216 (applying same

standard on review of a permanent injiire). In determining the probability that
a party will again engage in violation$the securities laws, a court should
consider the “egregiousness of the defarig actions, the isolated or recurrent
nature of the infraction, the degreesofenter involved, the sincerity of the
defendant’s assurances against futureatiohs, the defendant’s recognition of the

wrongful nature of the conduct, and fiielihood that the defendant’s occupation
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will present opportunities for future violations.” gdjuoting SEC v. Carriha

681 F.2d 1318, 1322 (11th Cir. 1982)).

In considering the SEC’s Preliminary Injunction Motion, the Court
understands that the federal securiti@sslare to be interpreted broadly and
liberally to effectuate Congress’s intd@atprotect investors and to reach the
various schemes devised tiwpse persons who wouldausthe money of others on
the promise of profits. Sdearribg 681 F.2d at 1324.

In this case, Defendants admit that gromissory notes sold by CN Capital
are securities, ([48.1] at 3), and the Qdas found that the LS Interests also are
securities. The evidencetine record and the testimony and evidence presented
during the preliminary injunction hearimgrther support the Court’s conclusion
that the LS interests are securiti@ésThe Court next coiiders whether the SEC

established a prima facie case thatdddants violated the securities laws.

23 For instance, the record shows t@at Acceptance performed services for

investors such as monitoring the insuseskatus, obtaining annual statements from
insurance companies, and applying feath benefits. ([25] at CN-SEC-000569,
-576). Mr. Torchia testified that €dit Nation hired doctors to analyze life
expectancy. (Tr. at 214B4).
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1. Prima Facie Case of Securities Violations

The SEC alleges that Defendants viethSections 5(a) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act and the Anti-Fraud Prowiss of the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act.

a)  Section 5 of the Securities Act

“In order to establish a prima facie case for a violation of § 5 of the
Securities Act, the SEC must demongrtitat (1) the defendant directly or
indirectly sold or offered to sell setties; (2) through the use of interstate
transportation or communication and thelsd3) when no registration statement
was in effect.”_Big Apple783 F.3d at 806-807. “Oagarticipation in an
unregistered sale has been shown, teleis] have the burden of proving an
exemption to the registration requirements.” atd807.

Defendants admit that (1) the pra@sory notes sold by CN Capital are
securities; (2) they were sold using thetrumentalities of interstate commerce;
and (3) no registration statentevas in effect with the SEC as to those promissory
notes. ([48.1] at 3-4). Itis thus Defemtisi burden to prove an exemption to the
registration requirements.

Defendants argue that the SEC “failstmw that Credit Nation did not take

reasonable steps to verify investors’ acteztistatuses.” ([264t 5). Defendants

46



also reiterate the argument they madsupport of their Motion to Dismiss that
“an investor’s ability to satisfg sizeable minimum investmerdn be an

indication of accredited status.” (lgkmphasis added)). While interesting
observations, they ignore that the burdean Defendants to prove an exemption
to the registration requiremerffs They also side step Defendants’ failure to offer
any evidence, or argument, to support thair sales of promissory notes were
exempt from the registration requirem&niThat they have raised tpassibility

that the promissory notes were exemptias enough. Therie an absence of
evidence to support even an inference gheggistration exemption applies. There
Is nothing in the record to show thatfBedants made any effort to determine if
investors were accredited or otherwise hineefinancial acumen or resources to
evaluate and understand the value or oisthe investments Defendants were
touting as providing 9% annual returrBecause the SEC hdemonstrated that
Defendants sold securities through the akinterstate communication when no
registration statement was in effeatdebecause Defendaritave not met their

burden to prove an exemption to tlegistration requirements, the Court

24 Defendants’ citations to SEC regtibas that might provide exemptions

from the registration requirements, ($26] at 5), is not enough to meet their
burden of proof. Defendants do rdter any evidence in support of their
argument that the regulations cited apply to the promissory notes.
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necessarily finds that the SEC has established a prima facie case that Defendants

violated Section 5 of the Securities AttSeeBig Apple 783 F.3d at 806-807.

b)  The Anti-Fraud Provisions

The SEC also alleges that Defendandéated Sections 17(a)(1), 17(a)(2),
and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, SeatilO(b) of the Exchange Act, and SEC
Rule 10b-5—known as the Anti-Fraud Provisions. To establish prima facie
violations of Section 17(a)(1), Semti 10(b), and Rule 10b-5, the SEC must
demonstrate that Defendantsded(1) material misrepeentations or materially
misleading omissions, (2) in connection with the purchase or sale of securities,”

and that they “(3) madeHém] with scienter.”_Seklerchant Capital483 F.3d at

766 & n.17. To establish that Defendants violated Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3),
“the SEC need only show (1) material reigresentations or rtexially misleading

omissions, (2) in the offer or sale of securities, (3) mitle negligence® |d.

% Based on the evidence presenteis, ifuestionable whether Defendants will

be able to prove that an exemption applies.

26 All of these violations also requipgoof of an interst& commerce or mails
element._Se#&5 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 15 U.S.C. § 77qg(d)efendants adin ([48.1] at
4-5), that CN Capital an@N Acceptance usddstrumentalities of interstate
commerce in connection with the offardasale of promissory notes and LS
Interests. The SEC thus has proved éesnent for purposes of its prima facie
case.
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“[lln SEC civil enforcement actiorfer preliminary injunctive relief under
the antifraud provisions of the federal setes laws . . . the proper standard of

proof is the preponderance of the evickeii SEC v. First Fin. Grp. of Tex.

645 F.2d 429, 434 (5th Cir. Uit May 1981) (citations omitted).

Having determined that the promissory notes and LS Interests sold by
Defendants are securities, the Court deteesithat the second element of each test
is met. The Court now considers&ther (1) Defendants made material
misrepresentations or materially neiatling omissions (2) with scienter.

(1) Material Misrepresentations or Omissions

“The test for materiality in theecurities fraud context is ‘whether a
reasonable man would attach importancthéofact misrepresented or omitted in

determining his course of @an.” Merchant Capitgl483 F.3d at 765 (citing

Carribg 681 F.2d at 1323). The SEC shows that Defendants advertised to
investors that promissory notes offereditem for sale would yield a “9% fixed
return APR” and were “100% asset backed*backed by hard assets.” (See, e.g.
[2.9], [2.10]). Defendants admit thal) CN Capital has reported losses to the
IRS for each year since lsiast 2011; (2) CN Capitalinvestments in sub-prime
automobile loans were not profitable in 2@i4n the first six months of 2015; and

(3) CN Capital told investors that “tlexpenses of operating the Company and
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investment lossesould exceed the Company’s inoe[,]” ([48.1] (emphasis
added)), but did not disclogleat they already had.

At the hearing, Ms. Hartman, therémsic accountant hired by Defendants to
respond to the SEC'’s investigation, testifat length regarding her analysis of
Credit Nation’s finances. Ms. Hartmaras eminently qualified to perform the
forensic analysis about which she testified, and was well-qualified to explain the
opinions and conclusions she offerdder testimony was artitate, supported by
uncontested facts, direct, and helpful. She waompelling, credible witness.

Ms. Hartman testified that Credit tlan was operating at a loss in 2014 and
2015. (Tr. at 125:21-25). Theropany was not profitable. (ldt 126:6). Based
on her analysis of Credit Nation’s pitsfand losses from 2014 to 2015, the losses
were accelerating._(léit 126:8-15). She testifiedahher analysis showed that
Credit Nation’s liabilities greatly exceeded its assets. (Ged 79:13-21,

94:10-25, 98:1-22; Pl.’s Ex. 1 at 15).

Defendants admit they cannot identify any inaccuracies in Ms. Hartman'’s
analysis of Credit Nation’s financial catidn in 2014 and the first six months of
2015. ([48.1] at 5-6). They argue, howeueat the SEC fails to show Defendants
made material misrepresentations olissions because (1) the SEC incorrectly

values Credit Nation’s life insurancelpees; (2) Ms. Hartman’s Financial
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Snapshots are not GAAP compliant and thnderstate its assets; and (3) Credit
Nation fully disclosed the possibility of emting losses to investors and explained
that its liabilities could exceed i&ssets. ([26] at 6-11).

Defendants argue that the SEC incdiyeealues Defendants’ life insurance
policies. At the end d2014, Defendants owngmblicies with a maturity value of
approximately $13 million. (Pl.’s EX at 31). After December 31, 2014,
Defendants spent approximately $6 milliorptachase new policies, (Pl.’s Ex. 1 at
1 (purchases of policies from third pas for $5,074,500 and purchase of a policy
from an affiliate for $1,196,549)), whichv@a maturity value of $75 million, (id.
at 13). Defendants thus claim that theakonarket value of their life settlements
“is at least $40 million,” (see, e,d19] at 4), which shows that Defendants are
solvent.

In support of this claim, Defendanty solely on Mr. Torchia’s testimony
that he could sell Credit Nation’s settlementicies “in under three months for at
least [$]35 million.” (Tr. at 219:3-13)Mr. Torchia’s testimoy was not credible.
The “opinions” he offered were not suppea by facts and welgased on broad,
speculative generalizations. His conclusstatements were not persuasive and the
Court believed many of them to be untridr. Torchia struggled to provide a

coherent explanation of his processlatermine the purchase price for life
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insurance policies, and his testimonysvewvasive. When confronted with

Mr. Freeman’s analysis of the total prems Credit Nation was required to pay on
the Kahan policy and that the premiumseeded the death benefits Credit Nation
expected, he testified, without any fadtaalogical support, that he “inherited
along with that [Kahan] portfolio . . . 14 million dollars’ worth of death benefits on
top of it for free on people that were alde(Tr. at 251:24-252:2). Mr. Torchia

did not explain the source of the purpdiye“free” $14 million in additional death
benefits, and the Court discredits the assertions as untruet 26R2:3-254:2).
Defendants do not identify, and the Casrtinable to find, any support in the
record for Mr. Torchia’s far-fetched assens. Confronted with a projected loss
on the Sneider policy, he claimed, ellyjuanconvincingly, that “we inherited 24

million dollars in death benefits for free. Just pay the premiuthgId. at

27 In their post-hearing reply brief [§3pefendants attempt to show that their

Sneider policy transactions were profieblDefendants provide a declaration by
Ms. Hardie [63.1] which purports to @l that, after taking into account the
purchase price, estimated premiums, sadenue, maturity Tae, and maturity
owed to third parties, the net prafit Credit Nation is approximately $11.4
million. (See[63] at 2). Ms. Hardie did natffer testimony about the Sneider
transaction at the preliminary injuman hearing to explain Mr. Torchia’s
testimony about the “free” death beneftisluded in the transaction. In her
attempt to explain the transaction wedkter, and without being subject to
cross-examination, Ms. Hardie still dorot provide specific information to
explain the “free” value about which Mr. Torchia testified and appears only to

52



258:24-259:3). The Court found wholly umpeasive Mr. Torchia’s effort to prop
up Credit Nation’s finances.

The Court finds Defendants’ valuatioofstheir life insurance policies are, at
best, unsubstantiated, and, at worslipdeately misleading. Mr. Freeman, the
SEC's life settlement valuation expéttestified that the ten policies that make up
the majority of the death benefits owngdCredit Nation have a total fair market
value between $1.5 million and $2.2 millio(ir. at 164:12-22; Pl.’s Ex. 20).

Ms. Hartman’s analysis of Credit Natiendbwn accounting records shows that the
total value, on a cost basis, olifettlements owned by Credit Nation was
approximately $9 million. ([2.5] at 15)These figures are credible both because
Mr. Freeman and Ms. Hartman providedailed, thorough analyses, and because
the values are reasonably related tophee Credit Nation paid for the policies it
purchased in 2015—3%$6 million—and to thedavalue of the policies owned at the
end of 2014—%$13 million.

Defendants, on the other hand, did off¢r any evidence to support their

unsubstantiated claithat they could, today, sdbr $40 million the policies they

provide information about the financiabrdts they hope to achieve. Defendants
do not attempt at all to show that their Kahmolicy transactions were profitable.
28 The Court found Mr. Freeman to Well-qualified to offer the testimony he
gave. His opinions were Wesupported and reliable.
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purchased a year ago for $6 million guldicies they purchased previously—
policies that, in the aggregate, had only $nillion in maturity value at the end of
20147 According to Defendants, a conmyathat has liabilities exceeding its
assets can purchase life insurance pditie a few million dollars that would,
practically overnight, inflate its assets teys of millions of dollars because the
policies at some point would realize thisice value whethe insured died.
Extraordinary “wishing it were so” clainiike these requirevidence to support
them, which is not in the record here. eiittheory appears toe that the moment
an insurance policy is purchased, its vatuigs face value minus the premiums it
expects to pay until the insured dies. Fhdther way, if a policy with a face value
of $1 million is purchased for $600,000, its value is $1 million minus estimated
premiums required to be paid to keep thkcgan force. Theyeject that the value
is what they paid for the policy or wha willing purchasewould pay for the

policy in an arm’s length purcha2® This valuation assumption is illogical and

29 Defendants’ policy facealue valuation claim is illogical and inconsistent

with the evaluations performed by Ms. Haan and Mr. Freeman. The value of an
asset is the fair market value, not whahay produce at somencertain future

date after the continuous paymenpoédmiums. Defendants’ valuation method
may be persuasive when advertised to irorsstlt is not persuasive to the Court.
30 Defendants do not appear to accoun@foinsured living longer than the life
expectancy they estimate, the failuretoé insurer, the company’s overhead, the
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inconsistent with commercial reality.*?
Defendants also point to the follavg language in CN Capital’s offering
memoranda to support the claimed truthfskef its representations to investors:

[T]he Company will determine thevalue of each Life Settlement

in its sole discretion based on accepted industry standards . ... For
purposes of valuing the Life Settlemeritee Company may rely in
whole or in part upon, among other things, verbal or written
statements produced by generabcepted industry valuation
techniques, industry experts umaffiliated third partiesand/or its

own estimates

general uncertainty in the market, fraudhe application for the insurance policy,
or other factors. Mr. Torchia’s view is that it will all work out over time.

3 For these same reasons, tleai€ does not credit Defendants’ argument
that the “dramatic[]” increasin the maturity value d@redit Nation’s assets since
the end of 2014 is “an indication thatrgdit Nation]'s financial picture is
continuing to improve and that [Credit tia] is not ‘failing.” ([61] at 5). If
Defendants’ valuation niieod was sound there would have been no need to
purchase additional policies to prop up tadue of Defendants’ assets by simply
increasing the aggregate faadue of policies held.

32 The Court notes that the total matiywalue of the policies owned by Credit
Nation at the end of 2014 was approxinhat&l3 million, and that Credit Nation’s
liabilities were approximately $30 million. &hthe maturity vale and fair market
value of policies owned by Credit Nation may have increased in 2015 does not
bear on the securities sold during 20Een if, for every life insurance policy
owned by Credit Nation at the end2§¥14, every insured had died on

January 1, 2015, Credit Nation wouldve received $13.3 million in death
benefits—not nearly enough to repay the ##ion it owed to investors, even if
Credit Nation’s other assetgere included. (Seér. at 80:11-17; Pl.’s Ex. 1; Pl.’s
Ex. 2). This evidence alone sufficient to show that, in 2014, the offering
memoranda and advertisements containemnah misstatements and omissions.
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(2013 Offering Memorandum at 23; 2014#f&@ing Memorandum at 23 (emphasis
added)). Ms. Hartman, Defdants’ forensic accounting analyst, valued the Life
Settlements at their investment basis dattrmined that the policies are worth
approximately $9 million, which, togetheiith Credit Nation’s $6 million in other
assets, is disturbingly short of tamount required to cover Credit Nation’s
approximately $42 million in #bilities. ([2.5] at 15§° Defendants do not offer
any accepted industry standards they exed to conduct valuations, and do not
offer any evidence of statemente®guced by generally accepted industry
valuation techniques, expsror other credible industry parties or methods upon
which they relied in valuing their life #l2Ements. Defendasido not even offer
credible estimates they made, choosmeely on Mr. Torchia’s back-of-the-
napkin “valuation” decisions. There certigirs no evidencehat Mr. Torchia’s

valuations were accepted within his istly. Simply stated, the only evidence

33 The Court also does not credit Defemi$acharacterization of their business

as one that is “in the eanjears” and as one that isadmgous to “a medical device
research and developmentgoany.” ([26] at 8). Dendants also argue that

“Credit Nation considers [losses] parttbg[ir business] model.” ([61] at 5).

Credit Nation has been raising moneysi2009, and Defendants do not appear to
contest that their investment stratdmgs never been profitable. Moreover,
Defendants did not disclose or market their investments as speculative—instead,
they told investors that their investmentsuld be backed by hard assets dollar for
dollar.

56



offered by Defendants was MForchia’s unsubstantiated testimony that he could
sell the policies for at least $35 million.

To try to shore up their financial stat Defendants next argue that their own
forensic accountant’s analysis of Creddtion’s finances is wrong. Defendants
contend that Ms. HartmanFinancial Snapshots are “preliminary, subject to
revision, and based on a review of cash flow.” ([26] at 9). They argue that the
Financial Snapshots are non-GAAP, whictderstates the value of Defendants’
assets. (ldat 9-10).

Defendants ignore that Ms. Hartmaunalysis is not GAAP compliant
largely because Defendantscords were kept by unined, uncertified employees
and thus the records were not even baépaf allowing a GAAP analysis. (Sée.
at 13:19-22, 14:5-20). Defendants nelveless argue—without factual or legal
support—that, under GAAP, premiums paid on the Credit Nation’s life settlements
would not be booked as anpense. Defendants aligmore Ms. Hartman’s
testimony that her non-GAAP accounting mded in Defendants’ favor, and not
its detriment. Ms. Hartman testifiedatra GAAP compliant balance sheet would
record “unearned revenue” for policies tkakdit Nation sold to investors in the
past. (Idat 67:4-23, 75:10-25, 95:14-25). €Arned revenue is a liability that

accounts for the fact that Credit Natiomprsed to pay premiums on behalf of
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investors to whom isold policies. (Seg#l. at 67:6-23). The conclusion the Court
reaches here, considering all of thedewce available to it, including that
presented at the evidentidmgaring, is that Ms. Hartman’s analysis properly
presents sufficient evidence of Defendafinances based on Defendants’ own
bank statements and internal accaumtiecords. Ms. Hartman’s Financial
Snapshots are a crediblecarate presentation of Daf@ants’ finances, and are
reliable.

Based on Ms. Hartman’s testimoagd her Financial Snapshots,
Mr. Freeman’s testimony, and the entiretytlod evidence in #hrecord, the Court
finds that, during the period alleged bg t8EC, Defendants’ liabilities exceeded
its assets by a material amount. Withogttising these important financial facts,
Defendants made material misstatemevtien they told investors that the
promissory notes were “100% asset batketdt “backed by hard assets dollar for
dollar.” Defendants made neaial omissions when thdgiled to disclose their
losses and true financial cinmstances to investors.

The Court also finds Credit Nation’srggzic risk disclosures are insufficient
to make these misstatements and ommssimmaterial. Defendants claim the
following language in their offering memoranda is sufficient to make its

disclosures not misleading:
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Operating Deficits. The expenses of operating the Company and

investment losses could exceed the Company’s income, wbidt

result in the Company’s aggregate liability under the Notes

exceeding the value of its assetdf that occurs, the Company has the

right to repay Noteholders less than the principal amount of their

Notes.
(2013 Offering Memorandu [21.4] at 19 (ECHPagination); 2014 Offering
Memorandum [21.5] at 19 (ECF giaation) (emphasis added)).

Defendants necessarily admit thahen these disclosures were made,
CN Capital had reported losses to th& I&ach year since at least 2011. (See
[48.1]). Ms. Hartman’sargely uncontroverted testimony further supports that
Credit Nation has been unprofitable faays and that its liabilities exceeded its
assets. Defendants’ gerwedisclosures that theompany “could” experience
losses or that its liabilities may excaexlassets did not save Defendants’

misrepresentations, and they otherwise vedfienatively, mateally misleading.

As the Eleventh Circuit ated in_Merchant Capitdl[tjo warn that the untoward

may occur when the event is contingenprudent, to caution that it is only

possible for the unfavorable events to r@pwhen they have already occurred is
deceit.” 483 F.3d at 747. Here, theCGpresents ample glence that the
unfavorable events—Ilosses and liabilitieattexceed assets—had already occurred
when Defendants made their disclosuvesich made those diksures materially

misleading. Further, these misstatemamid omissions were r@ial because “a
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reasonable man would attaichportance” to them. Sed. at 765. Reasonable
investors, aware of the truth of the infation represented to them and the status
of Defendants’ financial health withheficlom them, would have been hesitant to
make the investment offered.

The SEC has met its burden to sati$fy first two elements required to
establish a prima facie case of a &tadn of the Anti-Fraud Provisions of the
securities laws. The Court now adsses the final element of scientér.

(2) Scienter

As the Eleventh Circuit explains:

Scienter may be establisheddghowing of knowing misconduct or

severe recklessness. Proof of teskness requires a showing that the

defendant’s conduct was an extredeparture of the standards of
ordinary care, which presents andar of misleading buyers or sellers
that is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the actor

must have been aware of it.

SEC v. Monterossor56 F.3d 1326, 1335 (11th CR014) (alterations omitted)

(quoting_Carriba681 F.2d at 1324). Scientsan be established through

circumstantial or direct evidence. [@diting SEC v. Ginsburg362 F.3d 1292,

1298 (11th Cir. 2004)).

34 To show that Defendants violated Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3), the SEC
need only show negligence, rathiean scienter. Merchant CapitdB3 F.3d at
766.
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The evidence here shows that Defenglavere, at the very least, severely
reckless in offering the promissory notes d$ale to investors. Defendants admit
CN Capital had reported lossto the IRS each year since at least 2011, ([48.1]),
but failed to inform investors of thgoor financial health, choosing to instead
state that Credit Natiocould incur losses rather than had actually incurred
significant losses by the time the reprdaéons were mad investors.

Mr. Torchia testified that Credit Nain reported losses in 2011, 2012, and 2013.
(Tr. at 271:2-8). He testified dh Defendants “told [investors] woeuld run at a
loss. And | don’t think it's my dytto tell [investors] that ware running at a

loss.” (Id.at 277:23-278:3 (emphasis added)).isTévidence alone is sufficient to
support a finding of scientét. It certainly is evideoe of Mr. Torchia’s and
Defendants’ belief they were not obligated®truthful about their financial status.

Beyond operating losses, at #r&d of 2014, Credit Nation had
approximately $32 million in liabilities araksets consisting ynof about $2.8
million in outstanding principal on autoans, life settlements with a maturity

value of approximately $13.3 million, and ab&dtmillion in cash. It is incredible

3 Ms. Hartman testified that the initluals responsible for accounting at

Credit Nation “were not trained accountsii and that this was unusual for a
company the size of Credit Nation, (Seeat 13:19-22, 14:5-20), supporting that
Defendants’ practices at least deviatedrfithe standards of dinary care.
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that a company faced with such a finmhcondition—even if the details were
unclear—was oblivious to it. The Cadinds that Credit Nation’s financial
situation was “so obvious that [Mr. Torehand Defendants] mulsave been aware
of it.” Monterossg 756 F.3d at 1335. Indeed, the Court finds that Mr. Torchia
knew of Defendants’ precarious financiatsis, that it was trending worse, and
chose not to disclose it.

Credit Nation’s 2015 purchase of $@lon in life insurance policies further
supports that Mr. Torchia acted with stier. Faced with an SEC investigation,
Credit Nation purchased $6 million in lilesurance policies, and Mr. Torchia and
Defendants now claim—despite all evidemaé¢he contrary—that the market value
of those policies is $35 to $40 million, rendering Credit Nation solvent. This sort
of arbitrary valuation sleight of handffered by a CEO whose testimony was not
credible, shows an “extreme departurerirthe standards of dinary care” that
presented so obvious a danger of mislegdiuyers that Mr. Torchia “must have

been aware” of the risk. S&EC v. Imperiali, InG.594 F. App’x 957, 961 (11th

Cir. 2014) (quoting Ziemba v. Cascade Int'l, 256 F.3d 1194, 1202 (11th Cir.

2001)). Further, the circumstances surrounding Credit Nation’s purchase of the
policies, and their arbitrarily-inflated keation of them, supports the reasonable

inference that Credit Nation purchased thkcpes to inflate artificially its assets
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on its balance sheet. Thigerence further supports ti@ourt’'s determination that
Mr. Torchia acted with scienté?. Because Mr. Torchia controls the other

Defendants, his scienter is imputedtiem. _SEC v. Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc.

458 F.2d 1082, 1089 n.3096 n.16 (2d Cir. 1972).
The Court finds that the SECshahown, by a preponderance of the
evidence, that Defendants violated the Anti-Fraud Provisions.

2. Likelihood the Wrong Will Be Repeated

Having established their prima facieseaof securities violations, the SEC
must establish a reasonable likelihood thatwrong will be repeated. Indicia that
a wrong will be repeated include: (1) thgregious nature defendants’ actions;
(2) the isolated or recurrent naturetloé violations; (3) the degree of scienter
involved; (4) the sincerity of Defendan®&ssurances; (5) Dendants’ recognition
of the wrongful nature of their conduetnd (6) the likelihood that Defendants’
present occupations will present opportunities for future violations. Salvo

378 F.3d at 1216 (quoting Carril@81 F.2d at 1322).

36 Even if the Court had not found Dafiants acted with scienter, the SEC met

its lesser burden to show, for purposeSettions 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3), that
Defendants acted with “negligence.” 3derchant Capital483 F.3d at 766.
Violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and &J(3) also support the issuance of the
injunction the Court orders in this case.
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Defendants argue that a preliminary injunction should not be issued,
including because they “alreadgreed to discontinue the sale of 9% promissory
notes pending resolution of the SECReliminary Injunction Motion, they are
currently “revising [their] offering documésy” and they “asked [their] forensic
accountant to provide recommendatiémsimproving [their] accounting
processes .. .."” ([2&it 15-16). This ioo little, too late.

The Court finds the SEC has show reasonable likelihood of future
violations. Defendants’ conduct, in light of their financial situation, is egregious:
Defendants have repeatedly sold anccded “100% asset backed” promissory
notes with a “9% fixed return” knowing—a@t least recklessly disregarding—that
Credit Nation was unprofitable and thatfiteancial situation wa deteriorating.
Despite their assurances that they r@vising their offering documents,
Defendants have not presentaty assurances that they will not continue to violate
federal securities laws now or in the ftdu Defendants also have not recognized
the wrongful nature of their acts, maintaig that their finances and their business
model are sound. Defendants’ present occupations—selling Sub-Prime Auto
Loans and LS Interests—clearly present apputies for future violations. Credit
Nation continues to seek to sell promissooges and LS interests, claiming that its

financial management is responsible @sdinancial condition enviable, and that
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the SEC simply misunderstands its busimasslel. The coréacts are, however,
that Credit Nation has operated at a kossy/ears, its liabilities substantially
exceed its assets, and its financialan is deteriorating. Defendants’
continuing financial anchanagement issues support a reasonable likelihood of
future securities violations. To the extdr. Torchia claimde is seeking to
reform his companies’ operations tawoly with SEC requirements, the Court
does not believe him. Ratheis “fight it to the death” approach to business and
court obligations, (Tr. at 273:9-10), supports that reform is not reasonable to
expect.

The SEC has established a prima facsea# previous violations of federal
securities laws, as well as a reasonablihlood that the wrong will be repeated.
The SEC has thus satisfied both requiretador a preliminary injunction pending

the outcome of this litigatiotl. SeeUnique Fin. Conceptd96 F.3d at 1199 n.2.

Having determined that the SEC has itg&eburden to show that a preliminary
injunction is warranted, the Court addses whether an asset freeze should be

imposed and a receiver appointed.

3 The Court notes, however, that adufiél discovery will beéaken in this

matter and that neither pgighould infer from this preliminary decision that the
Court’s findings and rulingwill be unaffected by a full trial on the merits of this
action. _SEC v. ShineP68 F. Supp. 2d 1333, 1343 (S.D. Fla. 2003).
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B. Receiver

In First Fin. Grp, the former Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, in a case that is

binding precedent here, set out the consitiens for the appointment of a receiver
in SEC enforcement actions:

The appointment of a receiviera well-established equitable
remedy available to the SEC in aiwil enforcement proceedings for
injunctive relief. The district cou”t’exercise of its equity power in
this respect is particularly nesasy in instances in which the
corporate defendant, through m&nagement, hatkefrauded members
of the investing public; in such caséss likely that, in the absence of
the appointment of a receiver to main the status quo, the corporate
assets will be subject to diversiand waste to the detriment of those
who were induced to invest indltorporate scheme and for whose
benefit, in some measure, theGHjunctive action was brought. As
the Seventh Circuit stated in&eities and Exchange Commission
v. Keller Corporation323 F.2d 397, 403 (7th Cir. 1963):

The prima facie showing dfaud and mismanagement,
absent insolvency, is enough to call into play the
equitable powers of the courtt is hardly conceivable
that the trial court should fia permitted those who were
enjoined from fraudulent reconduct to continue in
control of (the corporate éendant’s) affairs for the
benefit of those shown to hateeen defrauded. In such
cases the appointment ofrastee-receiver becomes a
necessary implementation of injunctive relief.

Thus, the appointment of a temporary receiver is often a
necessary ancillary form of reliegf a SEC civil enforcement action
for injunctive relief. And it was for this purpose to insure complete
enforcement of the federal secustiaws that the appointment of a
temporary receiver was requestgdthe SEC and granted by the
district court in the instant case.
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645 F.2d at 438 (citations omittet).

The Court determines that the exte presented to it proves that Credit
Nation’s management, and financial pasitiare not sound. The Court is
unconvinced Credit Nation will act respdnly between novand trial. The
evidence also shows that Credit Natiopaeted losses every year since at least
2011, and that, based on Ms. Hartman'algsis of Credit Nation’s profits and

losses from 2014 to 2015, its losses arelacaeng, (Tr. at 126:8-15; see alBb’s

Ex. 1; Pl.’s Ex. 2). Under these circuanstes, “the appointment of a [Jreceiver

[is] a necessary implementationinjunctive relief.” First Fin. Grp.645 F.2d at

438 (citing Keller Corp.323 F.2d at 403Y’

That Mr. Torchia and Credit Nation’s @oyees appear to be, at the very

38 District courts have recently apai¢he standard articulated in First Fin.

Grp. See, e.g.SEC v. Evolution Capital Advisors, LL866 F. Supp. 2d 661, 668
(S.D. Tex. 2011) (“[U]pon a showing of fraud and mismanagement, appointment
of a receiver becomes a necessary implagation of injunctive relief” (internal
guotation marks omitted)); SBC AmeriFirst Funding, In¢.Civil Action No.
3:07-cv-1188-D, 2007 WL 2192632,*& (N.D. Tex. July 31, 2007).

3 Defendants argue that, in deciding whether a receiver should be appointed,
the Court should consider the availabilityless severe equitabtemedies and the
probability that a receiver may do mdrarm than good. ([26] at 14-15).
Defendants do not provide any authoritatthn the context of an SEC civil
enforcement action, the Court should t#kese factors into consideration. The
Court finds that, in any event, given Defenta deteriorating financial situation, a
receiver is required, lesevere equitable remedies would not suffice, and a
receiver would not do more harm than good.
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least, severely reckless in their handlofgheir finances and the running of their
business, further supports that a receiveedgiired. Mr. Torchia testified that he
and his company are “the best in the world” at buying and selling insurance
policies, but he showed little grasp oéthrocess by which a life insurance policy
Is valued, or was unwilling to disclose itttee Court. His answers were evasive
and general. For instance, he statedunes certain policie§b]ecause we feel

that the life expectancias certain areas are off,” and that he is “looking for
homeruns and . . . for potential.” (Tr. at 23-20). He stated that he is “just not a
very good accountant. We have outsidéA€Fkhat were brought in to set up the
systems that were in place . . . . cAanting is not my strong suit.”_(Id.
223:25-224:6). Yet Ms. Hartan testified that the individuals responsible for
accounting at Credit Nation “were not trad accountants,” and that this was
unusual for a company the siaeCredit Nation. (Seml. at 13:19-22, 14:5-20).
Ms. Green, Mr. Torchia’s owfinancial manager, could hexplain the purpose of
Mr. Torchia’s nearly $3 million in loato CN Auto from 2007 to 2013. (ldt
315:18-316:20). The testimony presentethatpreliminary injunction hearing and
the evidence in the record shows muous undocumented, unverified, or
unexplained transactions between Mrrdfoa and other entities, supporting that

Mr. Torchia and his staff are unableuwnwilling to manage their finances. (See,
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e.q, id. at 40:14-16 (CN Auto paid the pajirof both CN Auto and AMC); idat
54:9-15 (money flow between Credllation and RiverGreen tracked on
spreadsheet by Mr. Torchia’s employees)sHEx. 2 at 39 (non-collectable loan to
CN Auto of $6.4 million at the end of 2014)I.’s Ex. 1 at 5-6 and Pl.’s Ex. 2 at
17-19 (Mr. Torchia directed the transfermafndreds of thousands of dollars to CN
Auto, Spaghetti Junction, National Viedi, RiverGreen, Willie West, Jason’s
Automotive, and Sixes Tavern); Tr.228:2-20 (no documentation memorializing
loans from Mr. Torchia or CredNation to Spaghetti Junction); idt 304:24-305:5
(no loan agreements in place memorialigMr. Torchia’s loans to Credit Nation
and other entities)). These findings furteapport that a receiver is required in
this case.

C. Asset Freeze

A district court may exercise its futhnge of equitable powers, including an
asset freeze, to preserve sufficient fundgtie payment of a disgorgement award.

FTCv. U.S. Oil & Gas Corp748 F.2d 1431, 1433-341th Cir. 1984); see also

Levi Strauss & Co. v. Sunrise Int’| Trading €61 F.3d 982, 987 (11th Cir. 1995).

Freezing assets is a well accepted ebleteemedy employed to “preserve the
status quo” and is proper in actions @gsunder the Securities Act. SEC v. ETS

Payphones, Inc408 F.3d 727, 734-35 (11th C2005) (citing United States
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V. Oncology Assocs198 F.3d 489, 494-99 (4th Cir. 1999)); see &lsa Strauss

51 F.3d at 987 (a request for equitable feheokes the district court’s inherent
equitable powers to order preliminaslief, including an asset freeze).

In light of Credit Nation’s precarious financial situation and inability or
unwillingness to manage its finances thourt concludes aasset freeze is
justified and appropriate to preserve gaus quo and to preserve sufficient funds
for the payment of any disgorgement aw&rd:he Court notes that there already
are in place certain restrictions on Defemgabusiness and use of assets pursuant
to the November 20, 2015, andhdary 13, 2016, Consent Orders.
IV.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss [21] is
DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the SEC’s TRO Motion [2] BENIED
AS MOOT.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the SEC’s Preliminary Injunction

Motion [20] isGRANTED. The specific terms of the injunction are as follows:

40 The SEC’s TRO Motion seeks the sarakef as its Preliminary Injunction

Motion. Because the Court grante tBEC’s Preliminary Injunction Motion, it
denies as moot the SEC’s TRO Motion.
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PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION ORDER

l. ENJOINING VIOLATIONS

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED that Defendants and their agents, servants,

employees, attorneys, and all persons tivaconcert or participation with them

are enjoined from violatinglirectly or indirectly:

A.

Section 10(b) of the Exchange A&b U.S.C. 8§ 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5(a),

(b) and (c) promulgated thereund&7 [C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a), (b) and (c)],

by using any means or instrumentabfyinterstate commerce, or of the

mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection

with the purchase or sale of any security:

1.

to employ any device, scheme,astifice to defraud, to make
any untrue statement of a matefedt or to omit to state a
material fact necessary in ordermake the statements made, in
light of the circumstances undehich they were made, not
misleading, or

to engage in any act, practiag,course of business which
operates or would operate aaud or deceit upon any person,
by providing false or misleading information or omitting to
provide material information tactual or prospective investors
concerning the performancefum, existence, use or
disposition of investor funds.

Section 17(a)(1), (2) and (3) of thecrities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1), (2)

and (3)] in the offer or sale ohg security by the use of any means or

instruments of transportation or comnication in interstate commerce or by

71



use of the mails, directly or indirectly:

1.

2.

to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,;

to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement
of a material fact or any ossion to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which theyne@enade, not misleading, or

to engage in any transactigractice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the
purchaser; by providing false orisleading information or
omitting to provide material information to actual or
prospective investors concemg the performance, return,
existence, use or disptisn of investor funds.

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77e(a), (c)] in the

offer or sale of any security by tlhise of any means or instruments of

transportation or communication intémstate commerce or by use of the

mails, directly or indirectly to offeto sell securities, through the use or

medium of any advertisement, placemmemoranda or otherwise, without

a registration statement having been finath the SEC as to such securities.

Defendants are specifically enjethfrom making the representations and

omissions identified in this Order o¥presentations and omissions regarding

rates of return and Defendahtinancial status inannection with the sale of

securities based on sub-prime auto fdifie insurance settlements, or the

sale of fractional interesis life settlement contracts.
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Il. PRESERVING RECORDS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and their officers, directors,
agents, employees, servants, managenseral and limited paners, trustees,
employees, attorneys and accountants amk or financial istitution holding any
assets of Defendants and all personsnities in active concert or participation
with them, and each of them, are rasted and enjoined from destroying,
transferring or otherwise rendering illegible all books, records, papers, ledgers,
accounts, statements and atdecuments employed in any aich Defendants’
business, which reflect the businesswites of Defendants, including those
described in the Complaint in this action.

lll.  EFREEZING OF ASSETS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the assets of Bendants be, and hereby
are, frozen. The “Assets” are definedaay money, investment, property of any
kind, or any other thing of value, tangdr intangible, including those in which
one or more of Defendants has a benefiait@rest that, in whole or in part, was
derived from, was acquad using, was used in contiea with or otherwise related
to, or the result of, the conduct alleged in the Complaint in this action. The freeze
shall include, but not be limited to, tle&inds in any bank accounts, brokerage

accounts, mutual funds, hedge fundd any other accounts property of any
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Defendant. Defendants and their officatlisectors, agents, employees, servants,
managers, general and lted partners, trustees, employees, attorneys and
accountants, and all persons in active concert or participation with them, except the
Receiver appointed by this Court, Heyeare restrained from, directly and
indirectly, transferring, setting offeceiving, changing, selling, pledging,
encumbering, assigning, liquidating or athisse disposing of or withdrawing the
Assets.

Any bank, brokerage firm, mutual other fund, other fiancial firm and
institution, or any other person, partnership, corponadir other entity maintaining
or having custody or control @iny of the Assets shall:

1. freeze such Assets;

2. within five (5) business days oéceipt of such notice, file with

the Court and serve on counsel fiee SEC and for Defendants,

a statement setting forth, with respect to such Assets, or account
in which Assets are maintaindtie balance in the account or

the description of the Assets as of the close of business on the
date of the receipt of the notice; and

3. promptly cooperate with the Reeer and the SEC to determine

whether and to what extent aagcounts, funds or other assets

are actually assets or proceexf assets of any of the
Defendants.
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IV. APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER : GENERAL PROVISIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a Receiver be appded in this action to
marshal and preserve the Assets. MrBAHIill of Taylor English Duma LLP in
Atlanta, Georgia is determaa by the Court to be uniglyegualified to serve as
Receiver, and he is appointd Receiver in this mattét. Mr. Hill has immediate
exclusive jurisdiction and possession af thssets, and the property, real and
personal, including cash, securities, reables and accountsf Defendants.

If the Receiver seeks to resign higaintment as Receiver, the Receiver
shall first give written notice to counsel @cord in this casend the Court, of the
Receiver’s request to resign. The restgmmamust be approved by the Court under
any terms or conditianset by the Court.

This Court shall retain jurisdiction ovany action filed against the Receiver
and any persons retained to assistRbeeiver to perform the duties required by

the Receiver.

“L Mr. Hill advises that he intends to engadaeyers at his firm to assist him to

fulfill his duties as Receiver. He has repented the hourly rates for the levels of
the attorneys he expects to request tokvam this engagement. The Court finds
the hourly rates for Mr. Hill and the attorndyes intends to engage to assist him are
reasonable in the Atlanta market for legalvsms. The Court W, at a later date,
approve the engagement of his firm to\pde legal services to him in connection
with the Receivership.
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V. AUTHORITY OF THE RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver shall have all the powers,
authorities, rights and privileges as thtdsat would be exercised by the officers,
directors, managers and geseand limited partners @dhe Defendants under state
and federal law, by the Defendants’ govag charters, by-laws, articles or
agreements, in addition to all powers authority of a receiver at equity, and
those powers conferred on a receiwveder 28 U.S.C. 88 754, 959 and 1692, and
Fed. R. Civ. P. 66.

The officers, directors, trustees, magers, generahd limited partners,
employees, investment advisors, attomy@ccountants, and other employees or
agents of the Defendants (collectivelye “Managers”) may be dismissed by the
Receiver, in the Receiver’s discretiohhe powers and authorities of officers,
general partners, directorsanagers and agentstbé Defendants are suspended
upon entry of this Order. EhManagers shall not haveyapower or authority with
respect to the Defendants’ operationgassets, until sudime as power or
authority may be expressly granted by the Receiver.

The Receiver shall assume and cdritne operation of Defendants. No
person other than the Receiver and treag@orized by the Receiver to act on the

Receiver’'s behalf shall posseany authority to act by or on behalf of any of the
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Defendants while this injunction is in effect.

The Receiver shall have the fmslling general powers and duties:

1.

to use reasonable efforts to determine the nature, location and
value of all Assets;

to take custody, control and poss®n of all Assets and records
relating to them; to sue fond collect, recover, receive and
take into possession any Assetshe custody, possession or
control of third parties. Alpersons and entities having control,
custody or possession of any Assets or documents relating to
them are hereby directed tarnusuch property over to the
Receiver;

to manage, control, operad@d maintain the Assets;

to use the Assets solelyrfthe benefit of Defendants’
businesses that are the subgfcthe Complaint, making
payments and disbursements amzlirring expenses as may be
necessary or advisable in thelioary course of business in
discharging the duties of Receiver;

to engage and employ persamso, in the Receiver’'s

discretion, will assist in carityg out the Receiver’s duties and
responsibilities, including, but not limited to, accountants,
attorneys, securities traders, 1€tgred representatives, financial
or business advisers, liquidating agents, real estate agents,
forensic experts, brokers, traders or auctioneers;

to take necessary and appropriatéion to preserve the Assets
or to prevent the dissipation or concealment of Assets;

to issue subpoenas for documeans testimony consistent with
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;

to bring appropriate legal actioalowed in state, federal, or
foreign court as the Receiver degnecessary or appropriate to
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discharge his duties as Receiver;

9. to pursue and defend all suigstions, claims and demands
which may now be pending which may be brought by or
asserted against the Defendantsiag out of their businesses;
and

10. to take such other action amy be approved by this Court.

VI. REPORTS REQUIRED

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, while this injunction is in effect, the

following written reports are required:

A.

Within fourteen(14) calendardays of the entry ahis Order, Defendants
shall file with the Court and serwgon the Receiver and counsel for the
parties a sworn statement, listing: (a) the identity, location and estimated
value of all Assets; (b) all empjees (and job titles thereof), other
personnel, attorneys, accountants ang other agents or contractors of
Defendants; and, (c) themes, addresses and amiswof claims of all
known creditors and investors of the Defendants.

Within thirty (30) days of the entry dhis Order, Defendants shall file with
the Court and serve upon the Receivet eaounsel for the parties a sworn
statement and accounting, with comipldocumentatiorgovering the period
from January 1, 2012to the present, and providing the following

information:
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1.  all Assets, wherever locateukld by or in the name of
Defendants, or in which any of them, directly or indirectly, has
or had any beneficial interestr over which any of them
maintained or maintains or escised or exercises control;

2.  every account at every barikkokerage or other financial
institution: (a) over whic Defendants have signatory
authority; and (b) opened by, ihe name of, or for the benefit
of, or used by, Defendants;

3. all credit, bank, charge, delot other deferred payment card
iIssued to or used by eachfBedant and their officers,
directors, employees and other agents, including but not limited
to the issuing institution, the card or account number(s), all
persons or entities to whichcard was issued and with
authority to use a card, the bat& of each account and card as
of the most recent billing statemt, and all statements for the
last twelve months;

4.  all Assets received by any thfem from any person or entity,
including the value, locationnd disposition of any assets so
received; and

5. all funds received by Defendan#s)d each of them, in any way
related, directly or indirectlyto the conduct alleged in the
Complaint. The submission mudearly identify, among other
things, all investors, the sedtigs they purchased, the date and
amount of their investments, and the current location of such
funds; and

6. all expenditures and transfers exceeding $1,000 made by any of
them, including those made dmeir behalf by any person or
entity.

Within thirty (30) calendar days of the entry of this Order, Defendants shall

provide to the Receiver and counseltloe parties copies of Defendants’
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federal income tax returns for 2012 thgh the present with all relevant and
necessary underlying documentation.
The Receiver is authorized, empoweasdl directed to develop a plan for
the fair, reasonable, and efficient recgvand management of all remaining,
recovered, and recoverable, Assets {theset Plan”). Within ninety (90)
days of the entry date of this Ordere tReceiver shall file the Asset Plan in
this action, with serviceapies to counsel of record.
Within thirty (30) days after thenel of each calendar quarter, the Receiver
shall file and serve a full report and aaating of the Assets (the “Quarterly
Status Report”), reflecting (to the bedtthe Receiver’'s knowledge as of the
period covered by the report) the existeyvalue, and location of all Assets,
and of the extent of liabilities, bothose claimed to exist by others and
those the Receiver believes to be legdigations of Defendants. The
Quarterly Status Report shall contain the following:
1. a summary of the operations of the Receiver;
2.  the amount of cash on hand, the amount and nature of accrued

administrative expenses, atiee amount of unencumbered

funds in the estate;
3. aschedule of all the Receiveresceipts and disbursements

(attached as Exhibit A to the @derly Status Report), with one

column for the quarterly periocbvered and a second column
for the period from the inception of the receivership;
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4.  adescription of all known Assets, including approximate or
actual valuations, anticipated or proposed dispositions, and
reasons for retaining assetsemd no disposition is intended;

5. a description of liquidatednd unliquidated claims of
Defendants, including the need forensic and/or investigatory
resources; approximate valuatiafsclaims; and anticipated or
proposed methods of enforcing such claims (including
likelihood of success in: (i) deicing the claims to judgment;
and, (ii) collecting such judgments);

6. a list of all known creditors andvestors with their addresses
and the amounts of their claims;

7.  the status of creditor and investdaims proceedings, after such
proceedings have been commenced; and

8. the Receiver’'s recommendations for continuation or

discontinuation of the receivership, and the reasons for the
recommendations.

Within ten (10) days after the entrytbis Order, Defendants shall file with
the Court and serve upon the Received eounsel for the parties a list of
each proceeding of any kind, including, but not limited to, administrative,
civil, or criminal, in which one or mre of the Defendants or their officers,
directors, employees or agents is @yaThe list shalprovide a detailed

summary of each proceeding.
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VIl. DEFENDANTS' REQUIREMENTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, in addition to tl other requirements set

out in this Order:

A.

Defendants and the past and preséfitars, directors, agents, managers,

general and limited partners, trustes$orneys, accountants and employees

of the entity Defendants, as wellth®se acting in their place, are hereby

ordered and directed to:

1.

preserve and deliver to the Recejwsithin ten (10) calendar days of
the entry of this Order, all papand electronic information relating to
Defendants and all Assets; such mfation shall include but not be
limited to books, records, docemts, accounts and all other
instruments and papers;

assist the Receiver in fulfilling tHeeceiver’'s duties and obligations.
They must respond promptly and truthfully to all requests for
information and documenfsom the Receiver; and

answer, including under oathréquired by the Receiver, all
guestions which the Receiver mask and produce all documents
required by the Receiver regarding thusiness of Defelants, or any
other matter relevant to the ap@on or administration of the
receivership or the collection of funds due to Defendants. The
guestions may be asked in writingby any means allowed by the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Any persons acting for or on behalf Defendants, and any persons

receiving notice of this Order by persosalvice, facsimile transmission or

otherwise, having possession of the property, business, books, records,
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accounts or assets of the Defendangshereby directed to promptly contact

the Receiver to discuss deliverysafch records to the Receiver.

VIIl. EINANCIAL INSTITUTION REQUIREMENTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all banks, brokerage firms, financial

institutions, and other persons, corporations, partnerships or entities which have

possession, custody or control of any Asseth@name or for the benefit, directly

or indirectly, of Defendants that receiactual notice of this Order by personal

service, or any other means shall:

1.

not liquidate, transfer, sellpavey or otherwise transfer any
assets, securities, funds, or accounts in the name of or for the
benefit of Defendants except upon instructions from the
Receiver;

not exercise without the permission of the Court, any form of
set-off, alleged set-off, liemr any form of self-help
whatsoever, or refuse to transfer any funds or assets to the
Receiver’s control;

within seven (7) calendar days efteipt of that notice, file with
the Court and serve on the Re@giand counsel for the parties
a statement setting forth, withspgeect to each such account or
other asset not identified puest to Section Il above, the
balance in the account or deption of the assets as of the
close of business on the date of receipt of the notice; and

cooperate immediately to pro@dnformation and to transfer
funds, assets and accounts toRaeeiver or at the direction of
the Receiver.
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IX. INTERFERING WITH RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and all persons receiving
notice of this Order by personal servicepay other means, @hereby restrained
and enjoined from directly or indirecttgking any action, or causing any action to
be taken, without the exggs written agreement ofetiReceiver, which would:

1. interfere with the Receiver’s aotis to take control, possession,
or management of any Assegsich prohibited actions include
but are not limited to, using self-help or executing or issuing or
causing the execution or isseamof any court attachment,
subpoena, replevin, execution,ather process for the purpose
of impounding or taking possessiohor interfering with or
creating or enforcing a lien upon any Assets;

2. hinder, obstruct or otherwise interfere with the Receiver in the
performance of his duties; such prohibited actions include, but
are not limited to, concealing, steoying or altering records or
information;

3.  dissipate or otherwise diminishe value of any Assets; such
prohibited actions include but are not limited to, releasing
claims or disposing, transféng, exchanging, assigning,
encumbering, or in any wagpnveying any Assets, enforcing
judgments, assessments or claims against any Assets or any
Defendant, attempting to mdgj cancel, terminate, call,
extinguish, revoke or acceleratb€tdue date), of any lease,
loan, mortgage, indebtednesegcurity agreement or other
agreement executed by anyf®edant or which otherwise
affects any Assets; or

4. interfere with or harass the Receiver, or interfere in any manner
with the exclusive jurisdictionf this Court over the Assets.

The Receiver shall promptly notify tli&urt and counsel of record of any
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failure or apparent failuref any person or entity to aaply in any way with the

terms of this Order.

X. RECEIVER COMPENSATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver is entitled to reasonable
compensation and expense reimburserfrent the Assets. Compensation payable
to the Receiver shall be reasonable apgropriate as determined by the Court.

A. The Receiver shall apply, on or befdhe first day of each month, to
the Court for compensation and expense reimbursement from the
Receivership Estates (the “Monthly Fee Applications”). Each
Monthly Fee Application shall:

1. comply with the terms of eopensation agreed to by the
Receiver; and,

2.  contain representations thgf) the fees and expenses
included therein were incurred the best interests of
Defendants; and, (ii) witthe exception of the agreement
entered into with the Courhe Receiver has not entered
into any agreement, written oral, express or implied,
with any person or entity concerning the amount of
compensation paid or to Ipaid from the Receivership
Estate, or any sharing thereof.

B. Monthly Fee Applications will be terim. At the conclusion of the
Receiver’'s duties, as determined bg ®ourt, the Receiver will file a

final fee application (the “Final Fee Application”).
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C. Monthly Fee Applications may beilgject to a holdback up to 20% of
the fees and expenses approvedhayCourt upon the submission of
each Monthly Fee ApplicationThe amounts held back during the
course of the receivership will mensidered for payment by the Court
as part of the Final Fee Application.

At the termination of the Receiver’s duties, as determined by the Court, the

Receiver shall submit a Final Accountingariormat to be approved by the Court.

Xl.  TERM OF THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

The purpose of this Preliminary Injuran is to maintain the status quo
while the Court considers whether to ersigrermanent injunction in this matter.
As a result, this Preliminary Injunction wilke in effect at least until a judgment is
entered in this case.

Counsel for the parties shall immatily send a copy of this Order and
Injunction to each person that thieyow, or reasonably should know, has
possession, custody and control of any efAlssets, including, but not limited to
banks, brokerage firms, mutual or otlnds, and other financial institutions and

firms.

86



Xll.  STATUS CONFERENCE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Court shall hold, on Wednesday,
May 11, 2016, at 10:00 am, a telephonicugtatonference with counsel for the
parties and the Receiver.othsel and the Receiver argueed, before the status
conference, to confer and submit to @&urt their joint summary of any disputes
or potential disputes regarding the scopapplication of this Order, or any
practical issues or considerations regagdhe enforcement and execution of this

Order.

SO ORDERED this 25th day of April, 2016.

WILLIAM S. DUFFEY, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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